PROMOTER ANALYSIS OF A SUBFAMILY OF CALMODULIN-LIKE GENES IN *ARABIDOPSIS*

Lisa Katharine Koziol

A thesis submitted to the Department of Biology in conformity of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Queen's University

Kingston, Ontario, Canada

September 2009

Copyright © Lisa Katharine Koziol, 2009

ABSTRACT

 Ca^{2+} ions participate as second messengers in many stress-response and developmental pathways. Among eukaryotes, plants possess a remarkable diversity of Ca²⁺ binding proteins (Ca^{2+} sensors) such as calmodulin (CaM) and CaM-related proteins (CMLs) that regulate downstream targets and coordinate signal transduction events in response to stimuli. Previous studies have shown that a small subfamily of CMLs (CML37, CML38, CML39) in Arabidopsis show differential tissue expression as well as a dramatic induction of expression in response to environmental stress. For example, CML37 and CML38 respond very strongly to wounding, while CML39 is induced significantly by jasmonate. In order to understand the underlying regulatory mechanisms of the genes, promoter analysis experiments using the 5' upstream regions of these CMLs driving β glucuronidase (GUS) reporter expression were conducted. This empirical approach is a critical complement to algorithm-based prediction methods. It was found that the gateway vector pMDC163 was unsuitable for 5' deletion analyses. Three regions within the CML37 promoter were identified as having wound-responsiveness. Several known wound-responsive cis-elements were identified in these regions. A putative cis-element that is overrepresented in genes coexpressed with CML37 was also identified. Together, these data should lay the groundwork to identify the transcriptional regulators that direct stress-responsive CML gene expression.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To my excellent supervisor, Dr. Wayne Snedden: thank you for your never-ending support, encouragement, and guidance. Thanks also go to the members of my advisory committee, Drs. Sharon Regan and Ken Ko for all of your guidance.

I have had the pleasure of working with a large number of outstanding people during my time in the Queen's Biology Department. My thanks go to pretty much everybody in the Snedden, Plaxton and Regan labs. Barb, Polly, Hue, Kyle, Tom, Claire, Mike, Adam, Grace, Yun-Yun, Brendan, Brenden, Srinath, Jeremy, and all undergraduate thesis students, SWEP, work study students, and volunteers, as well as anyone else in the department with whom I have shared time: thank you for everything.

And finally to my family: I don't think there are words to express my gratitude for your love and support. I don't know who I would be if I hadn't been born into this family, but one thing is for certain: I would have been less sarcastic.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
CHAPTER 1 : Introduction and literature review	1
Plant defence responses	1
Plant signal transduction and transcription factor families	5
Ca ²⁺ in plant signal transduction	8
CaM and CMLs	11
Promoter analyses	15
Research objectives	19
CHAPTER 2 : Materials and methods	21
Generation of CML::GUS transgenic plants	21
Plant material and growth conditions	22
Stress treatments	22
Histochemical GUS assays	23
Fluorometric GUS assays	23
Statistical analysis	24
Websites used for <i>in silico</i> promoter analyses	24

CHAPTER 3 : Results	26
in silico analysis of CML37, CML38, and CML39 promoters	26
Analysis of 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors	32
CML37 promoter analysis	32
CML38 promoter analysis	34
CML39 promoter analysis	
Analysis of CML37 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector	43
Promoter analysis	43
Putative elements responsible for wound response	50
	52
CHAPTER 4 : Discussion	
in silico analysis of CML37, CML38, and CML39 promoters	53
Analysis of 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors	55
Analysis of CML37 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector	58
Future directions	63
LITERATURE CITED	65
APPENDIX 1 : Maps of vectors used in this study	76
APPENDIX 2 : Creation of 5' deletion constructs not analyzed in this study	79
CML37	79
CML38	79
APPENDIX 3 : Sequences of promoters and exact locations of <i>cis</i> -elements	82

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. Summary of in silico analysis of CML37 promoter.	27
Table 3.2. Summary of in silico analysis of CML38 promoter.	28
Table 3.3. Summary of in silico analysis of CML39 promoter.	29
Table A2.1. Sequences of oligonucleotides used throughout this study	80

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1. Graphical representation of locations of <i>cis</i> -elements within the <i>CML37</i> , <i>CML38</i> , and <i>CML39</i> promoters.
Figure 3.2. Diagram of CML37 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors. 33
Figure 3.3. Representative patterns of GUS expression in <i>CML37</i> 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors
Figure 3.4. Graphical representation of GUS activity in <i>CML37</i> 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors
Figure 3.5. Diagram of CML38 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors.
Figure 3.6. Representative patterns of GUS expression in <i>CML38 5'</i> deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors
Figure 3.7. Graphical representation of GUS activity in <i>CML38</i> 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors
Figure 3.8. Diagram of <i>CML39</i> 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 vector41
Figure 3.9. Representative patterns of GUS expression in <i>CML39</i> 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 vector
Figure 3.10. Graphical representation of GUS activity in <i>CML39</i> 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 vector
Figure 3.11. Diagram of CML37 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector
Figure 3.12. Representative patterns of GUS expression in <i>CML37</i> 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector
Figure 3.13. Graphical representation of GUS activity in <i>CML37</i> 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector
Figure 3.14. Motif common among wound-responsive regions of <i>CML37</i> promoter and distribution of the motif in genes coexpressed with <i>CML37</i>
Figure A1.1. Vector map of pBI101 vector76
Figure A1.2. Vector map of pMDC163 vector77

Figure A1.3. Vector map of pGWB203 vector.	78
Figure A3.1. Sequences of <i>CML37</i> , <i>CML38</i> , and <i>CML39</i> promoters	32
Figure A3.2. Locations of wound-responsive <i>cis</i> -elements within the promoters of <i>CML37</i> , <i>CML38</i> , and <i>CML39</i>	33
Figure A3.3. Locations of MYB-binding <i>cis</i> -elements within the promoters of <i>CML37</i> , <i>CML38</i> , and <i>CML39</i> .	34
Figure A3.4. Locations of JA-responsive <i>cis</i> -elements within the promoters of <i>CML37</i> , <i>CML38</i> , and <i>CML39</i> .	35

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ABA	abscisic acid
AGRIS	Arabidopsis gene regulatory information server
AP2/EREBP	APETALA2/ethylene-responsive-element-binding protein TF family
Athena	Arabidopsis thaliana expression network analysis database
ATTED II	Arabidopsis thaliana trans-factor and cis-element prediction database
BAR	botany array resource
bp	base pair(s)
bZIP	basic-domain leucine-zipper TF family
$[Ca^{2^+}]_{cyt}$	cytosolic free Ca ²⁺ concentration
CaBP	Ca ²⁺ -binding protein(s)
CaM	calmodulin
CaMBP	CaM binding protein(s)
CBL	calcineurin B-like
CDPK	Ca ²⁺ -dependent protein kinase
CML	calmodulin-like protein
DACC	depolarization-activated Ca ²⁺ channel
DTT	dithiothreitol
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EMSA	electrophoretic mobility shift assay
ERF	ethylene response factor(s)
GA	gibberellic acid

GFP	green fluorescent protein
GUS	β-glucuronidase
НАСС	hyperpolarization-activated Ca ²⁺ channel
JA	jasmonic acid
JAZ	JASMONATE ZIM-domain proteins
KIC	kinesin-like CaM-binding protein-interacting Ca ²⁺ -binding protein
LUC	firefly luciferase
MCC	mechanosensitive Ca ²⁺ channel
MeJA	methyl jasmonate
MEME	multiple em for motif elicitation database
MS	Murashige and Skoog
MUG	4-methylumbelliferyl glucuronide
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PLACE	plant cis-acting regulatory DNA elements database
PlantCARE	plant cis-acting regulatory elements database
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SA	salicylic acid
ТСН	touch-induced
TF	transcription factor(s)
TFII	general transcription factor for RNA polymerase II
VICC	voltage-independent Ca ²⁺ channel
X-Gluc	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indoyl-β-D-glucuronide

CHAPTER 1: Introduction and literature review

Plant defence responses

Plants are sessile organisms and therefore must find a way to respond to changing environments. One of the major factors with which plants must cope is wounding of tissues, which can be caused by abiotic factors such as wind, rain, or hail, as well as biotic factors, such as insect herbivory. Not only do these factors destroy plant tissues, they provide a pathway for opportunistic pathogen invasion. It appears that plants are able to distinguish between mechanical wounding and insect herbivory and induce different, yet similar, genes to respond to each stress type (Korth and Dixon, 1997; Reymond, et al., 2000). This differential response is likely due to the fact that herbivores release elicitors such as fatty-acid amino conjugates (Alborn, et al., 1997), ATP synthase γ -subunitderived peptides (Schmelz, et al., 2006), and disulfooxy fatty acids (Alborn, et al., 2007) into the wound site. Alone, these elicitors are capable of initiating plant defence responses (Schmelz, et al., 2009). Pathogen and herbivore response mechanisms are also quite different. Although many of the same genes are activated in both pathways (Cheong, et al., 2002), the ultimate physiological response to each pathway is unique. Following pathogen attack, plants activate salicylic acid (SA) pathways that instigate the hypersensitive response. This response causes the cells immediately surrounding the site of infection to undergo programmed cell death and fill with antimicrobial compounds (Kessler and Baldwin, 2002). Understandably, this response is only effective against pathogens, as herbivores live independently of plants and can simply move to another feeding site. Additionally, in Arabidopsis, gene regulation following herbivory and pathogen attack is specific to the type of insect or pathogen that is attacking the plant (De

Vos, et al., 2005). Wounding response has also been found to overlap with other abiotic stress responses; many of the same genes are induced following drought, cold, salinity, heat, and anaerobic stresses (Reymond, et al., 2000; Cheong, et al., 2002; Delessert, et al., 2004).

Defence mechanisms have a high metabolic cost and so must be induced only following damage (Agrawal, 2005). Plants have many natural physical defences, such as cuticles, lignification of cell walls, thorns, trichomes, and hardened woody bark (Delessert, et al., 2004; León, et al., 2001). Wounding generates many signals that can be recognized by plants. Cell contents are released, as are oligogalacturonides from damaged cell walls. Additionally, undamaged cells surrounding the wound site may experience pressure and water differentials (Van Poecke, 2007). Following wounding, plants display both local (in the immediate vicinity of the wound site) and systemic responses. Locally, plants transiently produce both reactive oxygen species (ROS) and Ca^{2+} (León, et al., 2001; Howe and Jander, 2008). Genes involved in Ca^{2+} signalling, as well as in ROS production and scavenging are both found to be upregulated following wounding (Cheong, et al., 2002; Kuśnierczyk, et al., 2008), indicating that both these signalling molecules have roles in wound response. Genes induced in the local response mainly have functions in repairing damaged plant tissues, adjusting plant metabolism, or producing substances that inhibit further predation (León, et al., 2001). Lignin biosynthetic genes are induced locally to repair the wound site, while photosynthetic genes are downregulated to adjust plant metabolism (Delessert, et al., 2004). Many substances are produced to deter further predation. For instance, protease inhibitor genes, which decrease insect growth and performance, are upregulated. These genes decrease nutrient uptake by herbivores and increase digestive proteolytic enzyme activity, which results in the depletion of essential amino acids (Van Poecke, 2007). A host of secondary metabolites are also produced that function as poisons, digestibility reducers, and insect repellents (Howe and Jander, 2008). Phytoalexins, flavonoids, and alkaloids function as anti-herbivore compounds, and their biosynthetic pathways are all upregulated following attack (Cheong, et al., 2002; Delessert, et al., 2004). Upon wounding, *Arabidopsis* myrosinases hydrolyze sulphur-containing glucosinolates into toxic proteins such as isothiocyanates and epithionitriles (Kessler and Baldwin, 2002; Kuśnierczyk, et al., 2008). This mechanism of defence is effective because prior to wounding, the myrosinases are spatially separated from the glucosinolates to prevent premature formation of these toxic molecules. Isothiocyanates have been found to reduce the survival and growth of the specialist herbivore *Pieris rapae* on *Arabidopsis* (Agrawal and Kurashige, 2003).

The systemic response is actually established earlier than the local response and it involves mainly signalling and regulatory factors (Delessert, et al., 2004), as it requires mobile signals to be transported around the plant to prepare unwounded areas of the plant for possible attack. In solanaceous plants, an 18 amino acid oligopeptide called systemin is thought to be the primary wound signal. This oligopeptide does not have to be synthesized following wounding, but is cleaved from a 200 amino acid precursor called prosystemin (Kessler and Baldwin, 2002; León, et al., 2001). In tomatoes, systemin binds a receptor kinase called SR160 (Meindl, et al., 1998) in plasma membranes that initiates a signalling cascade that results in the activation of phospholipase A2, which in turn releases linolenic acid from the plasma membrane (Kessler and Baldwin, 2002). Linolenic acid is a member of the octadecanoid pathway that controls jasmonic acid (JA) synthesis. JA and related compounds (jasmonates) are known defence signalling phytohormones. Members of the octadecanoid pathway are upregulated following wounding as well as JA treatment, indicating a positive feedback mechanism (Delessert, et al., 2004). JA signalling is dependent on the gene *COII*. This gene codes for a leucine-rich-repeat/F-box protein that determines substrate specificity of the SCF-type E₃ ubiquitin ligase SCF^{COII}. Following JA application, SCF^{COII} targets JASMONATE ZIM-domain (JAZ) proteins for degradation (Chini, et al., 2007; Thines, et al., 2007). These JAZ proteins are known repressors of key transcriptional activators of JA responses, such as MYC2 and other transcription factors (Boter, et al., 2004; Wang, et al., 2008). Strangely, JAZ proteins are upregulated by wounding and herbivory (Chung, et al., 2008), perhaps to limit JA signalling.

Other members of the octadecanoid pathway also have roles in defence response. Plants release volatile organic compounds following herbivore attack. These compounds serve two purposes: to signal distal leaves in order to overcome the restrictions of the vascular system, and to attract natural predators of herbivores (Heil and Ton, 2008). These volatile organic compounds are synthesized mainly through three biosynthetic pathways. Firstly, the so-called "green-leaf volatiles" are C6 compounds that are produced early in the wound response from precursors of JA (Kessler and Baldwin, 2002). Additionally, methylated JA (MeJA) is volatile and mobile in the gas phase and likely to function as long-distance defence signalling molecule (Heil and Ton, 2008). Secondly, terpenes derived from the isoprenoid pathway are volatile compounds that attract predators and parasitoids and may function as phytoalexins (Kessler and Baldwin, 2002). Thirdly, volatiles are produced through the shikimate pathway, which links metabolism of carbohydrates to the biosynthesis of aromatic compounds (Kessler and Baldwin, 2002). Methylated SA is derived through this pathway and is emitted following herbivory but not mechanical wounding. It, too, likely functions in long-distance signalling (Heil and Ton, 2008). These long-distance signalling molecules function by inducing signal transduction pathways.

Plant signal transduction and transcription factor families

Although growth and development are defined by genetic code, plants show remarkable plasticity in adapting to their environments. Plants are able to regulate their rates of growth and metabolism in response to external cues. These environmental stimuli are transformed into physiological responses through a sequence of receptors, messengers, enzymes, and transcription factors (Sanders, et al., 2002), which are collectively referred to as a signal transduction pathway. Receptors, enzymes, and transcription factors (TF) are generally specific for their physiological stimulus and plant genomes reflect this by the wide array of proteins that serve these functions. Conversely, only a handful of non-protein messengers are known. These include cyclic nucleotides, hydrogen ions, ROS, and Ca²⁺ (Sanders, et al., 2002; Trewavas and Malhó, 1997). Together, these signal transduction pathways exert transcriptional control over genes that will elicit appropriate physiological responses.

Eukaryotic transcription is performed by RNA polymerase II for all proteincoding genes. In order to initiate transcription, general TF are required. These TF, called TFII (TF for RNA polymerase II), form the transcription initiation complex with RNA polymerase II. A short DNA sequence that is comprised of mainly A and T nucleotides and typically found around 25 nucleotides from the transcription start site (the TATA box) recruits the specific TFII protein called TFIID, which in turn is able to recruit other TFII proteins and RNA polymerase II. Other TFII proteins can contain helicase or kinase domains that are required for transcriptional initiation (Alberts, et al., 2002). The area of the promoter where TFII proteins and RNA polymerase II bind is often referred to as the minimal promoter. The minimal promoter has been defined in the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter (Fang, et al., 1989). It promotes little transcriptional activity on its own, but there will be no transcription if it is absent. Activators and repressors are responsible for transcriptional regulation. Transcriptional activators help attract, position, and modify the TFII proteins and RNA polymerase II so that transcription can begin, while repressors act to suppress transcription (Alberts, et al., 2002). These activators and repressors are predominantly TF that have specific binding sites.

There are predicted to be over 1500 TF genes in the *Arabidopsis* genome (Qu and Zhu, 2006). Large scale expression data has been compiled for 1400 of these genes (Czechowski, et al., 2004). Additionally, expression profiles of a smaller subset of these genes suggest overlap in function in hormone, stress, and senescence signalling (Chen, et al., 2002). There are several large families within *Arabidopsis* that have roles during many different growth and development pathways, as well as during stress response.

The MYB superfamily is the largest TF family in plants consisting of approximately 200 members (Qu and Zhu, 2006). This family is known to have functions in a wide variety of physiological processes as well as during ultra-violet light exposure, wounding, anaerobic stress, and pathogens (Singh, et al., 2002). Other large families such as basic helix-loop-helix (162 members) and MADS (100 members) are responsible for cell proliferation and flower-related physiological and developmental processes, among other things (Qu and Zhu, 2006). TF families that are well known to function during stress responses include the APETALA2/ethylene-responsive-element-binding protein (AP2/EREBP) family, the basic-domain leucine-zipper (bZIP) family, and the WRKY family. The AP2/EREBP family consists of 147 members in Arabidopsis. A subgroup of this family called ethylene-response factors (ERF) is able to bind to two similar promoter elements; one found mainly in pathogenesis-related gene promoters, and the other within dehydration- and cold-responsive genes (Singh, et al., 2002). The ERF genes have been shown to be responsive to wounding, and also to treatment by JA, SA, and ethylene (Rushton and Somssich, 1998). The bZIP family is well characterized and numbers 75 members in *Arabidopsis*. They are known to both positively and negatively regulate many stresses including wounding, pathogens, salt, and drought tolerance. They are also involved in SA, auxin, JA, and hydrogen peroxide signalling (Jakoby, et al., 2002). WRKY TF are unique to plants and are defined by the presence of a WRKY domain (a 60 amino acid region that contains the sequence WRKYGQK) and a zinc-finger-like motif. There are over 70 WRKY TF in Arabidopsis (Qu and Zhu, 2006) and they are known to respond to SA treatment, senescence, pathogens, defence signals, and wounding (Eulgem, et al., 2000). WRKY TF bind to a promoter element called a W-box. This W-box is found in the promoters of many defence-related genes, including WRKY TF themselves, indicating transcriptional feedback regulation of these genes (Dong, et al., 2003; Eulgem and Somssich, 2007).

There are obviously also many smaller families of TF. For instance, *Arabidopsis* contains a family of six TF that are activated by a Ca^{2+} -binding protein (Bouché, et al., 2002). One of these TF is known to mediate biotic defences (Galon, et al., 2008). In addition to TF other proteins can also transcriptionally activate genes, as is the case with a specific Ca^{2+} -binding protein (Kushwaha, et al., 2008). Ca^{2+} is also able to regulate transcription without TF through certain promoter elements (Kaplan, et al., 2006; Finkler,

et al., 2007). The messenger Ca^{2+} therefore plays an important role in transcriptional regulation and signal transduction.

Ca²⁺ in plant signal transduction

Ca²⁺ is used as a second messenger by all higher eukaryotes. Due to its tendency to precipitate phosphate, Ca^{2+} is toxic to cells when at high levels in the cytosol (Clapham, 2007). For this reason, the cytosolic concentration of Ca^{2+} ([Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}) is kept at 10⁻⁷ M, while extracellular and vacuolar Ca^{2+} concentrations range from 10^{-4} to 10^{-3} M (Bush, 1995). This large gradient allows for a rapid increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_{cvt}$ when channels in the plasma or organelle membranes are opened. $[Ca^{2+}]_{cvt}$ has been shown to increase following the application of systemin (Moyen, et al., 1998) or following wounding (Knight, et al., 1993). Additionally, a Ca^{2+} -binding protein in tomato that is induced by wounding and by systemin may be responsible for the activation of several woundresponsive genes (Bergey and Ryan, 1999), indicating that Ca²⁺ signalling has a role in wound response. In addition to wounding, [Ca²⁺]_{cyt} elevations are known to be involved in signalling during both abiotic (salt, cold, light, heat, hypoxia, oxidative, drought) and biotic (herbivory, pathogen) stresses (Knight, et al., 1993; Knight, et al., 1991; Snedden and Fromm, 1998; Knight and Knight, 2001; Reddy, 2001; Nayyar, 2003; White and Broadley, 2003; Lecourieux, et al., 2006; Shao, et al., 2008; Song, et al., 2008). Ca²⁺ is also involved in the signal transduction pathways of phytohormones (abscisic acid (ABA), auxin, cytokinins, ethylene, gibberellic acid (GA), brassinosteroids, JA, and SA), as well as in many diverse cellular processes, such as cell growth and differentiation, thigmotropism, photomorphogenesis, gravitropism, nodulation, pollen tube growth, senescence, and circadian rhythm (Reddy, 2001; Nayyar, 2003; White and Broadley, 2003; Lecourieux, et al., 2006; Hahm and Saunders, 1991; Chen, et al., 1997; Hepler, 1997; León, et al., 1998; Yang and Poovaiah, 2000; Du and Poovaiah, 2005; McAinsh and Pittman, 2009; Du, et al., 2009).

Ca²⁺ enters the cytosol through influx channels. In animals, these channels are often Ca²⁺-specific, but plants generally have influx channels that are permeable to all cations (McAinsh and Pittman, 2009). Influx channels are found in all plant cell membranes and are characterized electrophysiologically into four categories: mechanosensitive Ca^{2+} channels (MCC), depolarization-activated Ca^{2+} channels (DACC). hyperpolarization-activated Ca²⁺ channels (HACC), and voltage-independent Ca²⁺ channels (VICC). DACCs, HACCs, and VICCs have also been shown to be active on the vacuolar membrane (Sanders, et al., 2002; White and Broadley, 2003; McAinsh and Pittman, 2009). MCCs are thought to be key components of mechanical stimuli signalling pathways, but very little information is known about this type of channel (McAinsh and Pittman, 2009). DACCs may be responsible for shaping Ca^{2+} signatures, as depolarization of the plasma membrane is common to many stress stimuli (White and Broadley, 2003). Specific roles for HACCs have been identified, such as stomatal closure during water stress, responses to ROS, and cell growth in root hairs (Sanders, et al., 2002; McAinsh and Pittman, 2009). VICCs include cyclic-nucleotide gated channels and the glutamate receptor family and appear to be the only Ca²⁺-permeable channels open at the resting state in plant cells, indicating a role in the maintenance of Ca^{2+} homeostasis within the cytosol (Sanders, et al., 2002; White and Broadley, 2003).

Homeostasis of Ca^{2+} in the cytosol is accomplished by actively transporting Ca^{2+} ions against their concentration gradient. Ca^{2+} efflux is achieved through Ca^{2+} -ATPase pumps and H^+/Ca^{2+} antiporters, which are present in the plasma membrane, as well as in

endomembranes of vacuoles and the endoplasmic reticulum (McAinsh and Pittman, 2009). There are two types of Ca²⁺-ATPases. Both have a high affinity for Ca²⁺, but one type is defined by its lack of autoregulation, while the other type contains an autoinhibitory amino-terminal domain (White and Broadley, 2003; McAinsh and Pittman, 2009). H⁺/Ca²⁺ antiporters have a low affinity for Ca²⁺, but have a high capacity for efflux. They have roles in maintaining a low $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ as well as resetting the $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ following stress induction (McAinsh and Pittman, 2009).

Changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_{cyt}$ have specific spatial and temporal characteristics following stimuli, which are known as "Ca²⁺ signatures". This has led to a Ca²⁺ signature hypothesis that proposes that the Ca²⁺ signature confers signalling specificity (Scrase-Field and Knight, 2003). In guard cells, it has been shown that Ca²⁺ oscillations contain encrypted information that are able to mediate stomatal closure (Allen, et al., 2001). However, other experimental evidence that have shown similar Ca²⁺ signatures with different end responses, similar end responses with different Ca²⁺ signatures, and responses occurring either in the absence of Ca²⁺ or in the presence of a Ca²⁺ agonist have led to a countertheory that states that Ca²⁺ acts as a chemical switch and that signal specificity lies elsewhere in the signal cascade (Scrase-Field and Knight, 2003). These theories both require more experimental evidence and it may be that both theoretical mechanisms function in different circumstances. Obviously, other elements contribute to Ca²⁺ signalling, and possibly signal specificity, such as Ca²⁺-binding proteins (CaBP).

CaBP are generally designated by the presence of at least one EF-hand motif; however, several CaBP do not contain EF-hands, such as annexins, C2 domain proteins, and calreticulin (Reddy, 2001; Day, et al., 2002; Bouché, et al., 2005). An EF-hand is a helix-loop-helix that binds one Ca^{2+} ion. Ca^{2+} sensors that are involved in signalling are CaBP with EF-hand motifs that function by connecting Ca^{2+} signals with downstream effectors (Snedden and Fromm, 1998; Snedden and Fromm, 2001). There are 250 putative EF-hand-containing proteins in *Arabidopsis* (Day, et al., 2002) that fall into three categories: Ca^{2+} -dependent protein kinases (CDPK), calcineurin B-like (CBL), and calmodulin (CaM)/CaM-like.

CDPKs are abundant and ubiquitous in plants. Ca^{2+} binds to the EF-hand motif within the CDPK and stimulates kinase activity (Reddy, 2001). There are over 40 CDPKs in *Arabidopsis*. They have a unique structural arrangement with four EF-hand motifs, a protein kinase catalytic domain, and an autoinhibitory domain that inhibits kinase activity in the absence of Ca^{2+} (Reddy, 2001). CBLs are so named because of their similarity to the B subunit of animal calcineurin. The best-characterized CBL is salt-overly-sensitive 3, indicating a role for these proteins in salt stress signalling. There are at least six *CBL* genes in *Arabidopsis*, several of which have been shown to be upregulated following drought, cold and wounding (Reddy, 2001). However, the most well understood Ca^{2+} sensor is CaM.

CaM and CMLs

CaM is a ubiquitously expressed protein that is highly conserved across all eukaryotes. There is greater than 70% identity between CaM amino acid sequences in plants and animals (Yang and Poovaiah, 2003) and all but one of the Ca²⁺-coordinating residues are conserved between plants and vertebrates (Zielinski, 1998). Prototypical CaM is a small (16.8 kDa; 148 amino acids), heat stable, acidic protein that contains four EF-hand Ca²⁺-binding domains that are arranged pair-wise into two globular domains (Zielinski, 1998; Reddy, et al., 2002). Binding to Ca²⁺ causes a conformational change that exposes two

hydrophobic surfaces (one in each globular domain) surrounded by negative amino acid residues (Bouché, et al., 2005). The EF-hands are able to independently bind Ca²⁺ and change conformation (Junker, et al., 2009), although the binding of Ca^{2+} by one EF-hand enhances the binding of Ca^{2+} by the second (Snedden and Fromm, 2001). CaM has no intrinsic enzymatic activity and must function by activating downstream target proteins (CaM binding proteins, CaMBP). It has recently been found that binding to CaMBP stabilizes CaM's folded conformation (Junker, et al., 2009). Interestingly, there does not appear to be a conserved amino acid motif that determines CaM binding. Although there is a motif (IQ motif, IQXXXRGXXXR) that is found in many proteins that interact with CaM in a Ca²⁺-independent manner (Bähler and Rhoads, 2002), Ca²⁺-dependent binding mainly occurs through hydrophobic interactions between target proteins and the globular domains (Zielinski, 1998). CaM target sites in CaMBP are 12-30 amino acid residues that have positively charged amphipathic qualities, as well as variability in the primary amino acid sequence and a tendency to form an α -helix when bound to CaM (Bouché, et al., 2005). Proteins from a wide variety of cellular processes have been identified as CaMBP, and many are unique to plants (Bouché, et al., 2005). There are approximately 30 known CaMBP in Arabidopsis, many of which have paralogs making the total number of CaMBP in Arabidopsis closer to 100 (Reddy, et al., 2002). Metabolic, signal transduction, transportation, and structural pathway proteins have been identified as CaMBP (Snedden and Fromm, 1998; Reddy, et al., 2002), and it is confounding that a single protein is able to regulate such different targets.

The way in which CaM regulates so many different processes in plants may be partly explained by the presence of isoforms of CaM as well as CaM-like proteins (CMLs). The Arabidopsis genome contains seven *CaM* genes that encode four isoforms of CaM (McCormack, et al., 2005), and fifty *CML* genes (McCormack and Braam, 2003). CMLs are defined as proteins that are mostly composed of EF hand domains, that have no other identifiable domains, and that share at least 16% identity with CaM. CMLs range between 83 and 330 amino acids and contain between one and six EF hands, with the majority containing four (McCormack and Braam, 2003). CaM and CMLs have been shown to bind differential targets using protein microarrays (Popescu, et al., 2007) indicating that CMLs likely have unique, unknown functions within the cell. CMLs remain largely unstudied apart from their sequence data, and for most of them, it is unknown whether they are capable of binding Ca^{2+} . However, there are a few examples of CMLs that have been characterized.

CML9 was recently discovered to be expressed in a variety of organs and tissues throughout development and morphogenesis (Magnan, et al., 2008). Expression increased during early stress response and following ABA treatments. Knockout mutants of *CML9* were found to be hypersensitive to ABA and therefore tolerant to drought and salt stresses, which are mediated by ABA. There appears to be a role for CML9 as a negative regulator that is involved in signalling pathways that lead to ABA-dependent gene regulation.

CML24 is also known as touch-induced (TCH)2, a member of the TCH family in Arabidopsis. It was originally chosen for characterization because its transcript levels were upregulated by touch, rain, wound, wind, and darkness (Braam and Davis, 1990). *CML24* displays regulation of expression throughout development and morphogenesis. Transgenic plants with reduced expression of *CML24* were found to have decreased ABA sensitivity specifically during germination. These plants were also defective in long-day induction of flowering, and were more tolerant to ionic stress (Delk, et al., 2005) indicating roles in these pathways for CML24. Recently, CML23, which shares 71% identity with CML24, has also been studied (Tsai, et al., 2007). Expression analysis shows that CML23 is expressed in a similar, but not identical, fashion to CML24. Double mutants that were deficient in both CML23 and CML24 showed delayed flowering under both long and short day conditions, which was caused by an accumulation of nitric oxide. Loss-of-function, single mutant *cml24* plants also showed an increase in nitric oxide accumulation (Tsai, et al., 2007) as well as an inhibition in both the hypersensitive response and pathogen-induced nitric oxide elevation (Ma, et al., 2008), linking CML24 with nitric oxide evolution and the hypersensitive response during innate immunity and pathogen response.

CML42 and CML43 were definitively shown to bind Ca^{2+} (Chiasson, et al., 2005). Additionally, *CML43* is expressed only in the root tip in regular conditions, but is strongly induced in the leaves by both avirulent and virulent *Pseudomonas syringae* (Chiasson, et al., 2005). Transgenic plants overexpressing CML43 showed acceleration in the hypersensitive response, which suggests a potential role in defence response. Conversely, *CML42* is expressed throughout the plant, notably in trichome support cells (Dobney, et al., 2009). CML42 was found to interact with the protein KIC (kinesin-like CaM-binding protein-interacting Ca^{2+} -binding protein), which is known to regulate the kinesin-like CaM-binding protein during trichome morphogenesis. Interestingly, transgenic plants that were deficient in *CML42* showed increased trichome branching (Dobney, et al., 2009).

CML37, *CML38*, and *CML39*, a subfamily, were found to have differential developmental and stress-responsive expression patterns (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007). *CML37* and *CML38* were found to have similar expression patterns. They were

both expressed in young leaves, roots, and floral tissues, but CML38 was also expressed in guard cells. CML39 only expressed in elongation and differentiation zones in roots as well as in pollen. These three genes were also found to have dramatic increases following both abiotic and biotic stress (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007). All three family members were found to be responsive to drought, salinity, and wounding. Interestingly, CML37 and CML38 showed strong induction surrounding wound sites, while CML39 was induced systemically. CML37 was also induced by hydrogen peroxide and avirulent P. syringae, while CML39 was dramatically induced throughout the entire seedling following MeJA treatment. The pathways and functions for these three genes are still unknown. There is evidence that CML39 may play a role in programmed cell death (Vanderbeld, Bender, and Snedden, unpublished data), and that CML39 interacts with ATHB21, a member of the zinc finger homeodomain transcription factor family (Vanderbeld, 2007). In order to understand the roles of these genes in stress responses their upstream activators and downstream interactors must be studied. The most common way to find upstream activators of genes is to analyze their promoters.

Promoter analyses

In order to determine the expression patterns of genes, many researchers make use of promoter::reporter constructs. Promoters are the regions within the genome that contain the regulatory sequences (binding sites for RNA polymerase II, TFII, and activator and repressor TF) for their specific gene. Although TF binding sites for any specific gene can be found throughout the genome, studies mainly focus on those that are found in the area directly upstream or within introns of the gene of interest. The most commonly used reporters are green florescent protein (GFP), firefly luciferase (LUC), and β -

glucuronidase (GUS). Although all three reporter genes have pros and cons (de Ruijter, et al., 2003), GUS reporter genes seem to be used most commonly for promoter analysis studies. This is likely because GUS reporter constructs can be examined qualitatively (by histochemical staining) as well as quantitatively (fluorometric assays, Jefferson, et al., 1987). Fluorometric GUS assays can also be performed in real-time by using Q-PCR instruments (Crow, et al., 2006).

Promoters are usually thought of as a linear collection of promoter elements (*cis*elements), each one recruiting a different TF (Aarts and Fiers, 2003). Characterization of *cis*-elements is extremely important for biotechnological methods of enhancing stress response in plants. For instance, if plants were engineered to constitutively produce volatile organic compounds to attract predators of herbivorous insects, the predators would soon ignore these signals if no insects were present (Kessler and Baldwin, 2002). The most obvious solution is to express these compounds under the control of an herbivory-induced promoter, making the discovery of inducible *cis*-elements of utmost importance.

Classical studies of promoters involve creating a promoter::reporter fusion protein as well as a 5' deletion series of the promoter. This allows researchers to narrow down the area of the promoter that is responsible for expression under certain conditions. These constructs can be expressed in plants, either stably or transiently (Yang, et al., 2000) or in cultured cells (Berger, et al., 2007). Recently, some studies have even passed over the 5' deletion of promoters and discovery of *cis*-elements and proceeded directly to the identification of TF. Miao, et al. (2007, 2008) cloned fragments of the *WRKY53* gene promoter into the yeast-one-hybrid system and discovered both novel and known upstream activators that bound specifically to certain areas of the promoter. However, the 5' deletion approach has proved successful for identifying *cis*-elements as well as the TF that activate them. For example, the *PR-10a* gene promoter was fused to GUS and was found to be upregulated in potato following wounding or treatment by wound elicitors (Matton, et al., 1993). Subsequent 5' deletion analysis of this promoter identified a *cis*-element (the elicitor response element) that was responsible for the upregulation in GUS following wounding. Electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA) were performed and two binding factors were found to bind the elicitor response element in a phosphorylation-dependent manner (Després, et al., 1995). Further study on one of these binding factors found that it was a novel single-stranded DNA-binding factor (Desveaux, et al., 2000) that was a member of a novel family of TF, called Whirly (Desveaux, et al., 2002).

Another group discovered that the transcripts of a tobacco family of four ethylene responsive TF (ERF) were upregulated following wounding (Suzuki, et al., 1998), and confirmed this expression using a GUS fusion protein (Nishiuchi, et al., 2002). 5' deletion analysis of the *ERF3* promoter found the element responsible for the wound response, which turned out to be an inverted W-box. NtWRKY1, 2 and 4 were found by EMSA to interact specifically with the inverted W-box, and were found to be responsible for the upregulation of *ERF3* following wounding (Nishiuchi, et al., 2004). Interestingly, there was also an element within the promoter that downregulated the expression of *ERF3*. This element turned out to be a GCC-box, and was found to preferentially bind ERF3, allowing negative feedback. This autorepression by ERF3 coupled with activation by WRKY TF indicates an intricate regulation system (Nishiuchi, et al., 2004).

Another gene in tobacco, *tpoxN1* was also found to be upregulated following wounding, but preferentially in the vascular system (Sasaki, et al., 2002). Several known

defence signal compounds and phytohormones were unable to increase the *tpoxN1promoter::GUS* expression, indicating a novel wound signalling pathway. Successive 5' deletion of the *tpoxN1* promoter narrowed down the responsive region to a novel *cis*-element termed the vascular system-specific and wound-responsive *cis*-element (Sasaki, et al., 2006). A yeast-one-hybrid screen using this element found two novel TF that bound this *cis*-element. These TF were found to be previously unknown members of the AP2/EREBP family of TF (Sasaki, et al., 2007).

There are many more examples of 5' deletion analyses of promoters that successfully discovered the *cis*-element or regulatory regions of the promoter responsible for wound response or for JA response (Vignutelli, et al., 1998; Lü, et al., 2007; Liu, et al., 2005; Mason, et al., 1993; Rouster, et al., 1997; Puzio, et al., 2000; Santamaria, et al., 2001; Siebertz, et al., 1989). Due to the successes of these and other studies, online plant promoter databases were created. This, coupled with the increasing amount of microarray data, has led to a newer, *in silico* approach for *cis*-element identification.

The most widespread technique of *cis*-element *in silico* analysis is the clustering of genes by expression profiles and analyzing the promoter regions of these genes for over-represented elements (Aarts and Fiers, 2003). Klok, et al. (2002) used this technique to study genes that responded to low oxygen. Co-regulated genes were identified and the promoter regions of these genes were examined for over-represented elements. Several elements were found, some that had been previously identified as low oxygen-responsive elements, and some novel elements. However, this group did not test the functionality of these novel elements. Another group studied the microarray cluster of genes that were induced shortly after wounding (Walley, et al., 2007). A novel *cis*-element was found to be over-represented and was termed the rapid stress response element. This element was

shown to be sufficient to confer responsiveness to a LUC reporter gene following wounding. This technique of studying microarray data and looking for an overrepresented element is likely a good way to find novel elements within a group of genes, but is not useful to find *cis*-elements and upstream activators of a single gene. Online plant promoter databases can also be used to find known *cis*-elements within any given promoter. Tittarelli et al. (2007) combined these two techniques. A plant promoter database was used to search for known *cis*-elements in the promoter of a phosphate transporter from wheat. The promoter was also compared to promoters from phosphate transporters from rice, barley, and Arabidopsis in order to find conserved regions, though none of these *cis*-elements were validated.

It appears that the best approach to characterize a specific promoter is still the classical approach; however, this approach can be aided by *in silico* analysis. Plant promoter databases can help refine the search for *cis*-elements by providing information about the location of putative regulatory sequences but the final proof will always have to come from *in vivo* experiments.

Research objectives

The roles of *CML* genes during stress response are poorly understood. Although it is known that the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* subfamily show increased expression following various stresses (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007), the upstream signalling pathways that result in these increases are completely unknown. With the purpose of shedding light on these signalling pathways, the goal of this project was to discover the *cis*-elements within the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* promoters that are responsible for their stress-induced expression patterns. The wounding response in *CML37* and *CML38*

as well as the MeJA response in *CML39* were chosen for analysis, as these were the most dramatic responses. In order to find these *cis*-elements, 5' deletions of the *promoter::GUS* constructs were created and transformed into plants to analyze if they retained the stress responses produced by the full-length promoters. The identification of these *cis*-elements provides a good basis for the future identification of transcription factors that activate these three *CMLs*, which will provide a better understanding of the signalling pathways of these stress responses.

CHAPTER 2: Materials and methods

Generation of CML::GUS transgenic plants

The genomic region upstream of the ATG translation start site for CML37, CML38, or CML39 extending to the predicted UTR of the nearest neighbour gene (1919 bp for CML37, 1438 bp for CML38, 941 bp for CML39) was amplified by PCR and subcloned into the binary vector pBI101 (Clontech, Figure A1.1) by B. Vanderbeld (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007). These constructs were used as templates during the PCR amplification of 5' deletion fragments of these three promoters. Primers used in this study are shown in Table A2.1. PCR products were either cloned into the pCR®8/GW/TOPO® (entry) vector (Invitrogen), or restriction cloned (the BamHI/ Smal sites were used for CML37 and CML38 constructs, while the HindIII/ BamHI sites were used for CML39 constructs) into the pBI101 vector (see Table A2.1 for construct information). One additional construct was made by restriction digest. pBI101::CML37 was digested with HindIII, which left a 656 bp fragment of the CML37 promoter in the pBI101 vector. Constructs in entry vectors were transferred by LR Gateway[™] cloning technology (Invitrogen) into the pMDC163 vector (Curtis and Grossniklaus, 2003) or the pGWB203 vector (Nakagawa, et al., 2007). Constructs were confirmed by DNA sequencing. Each construct was transformed into Agrobacterium tumefaciens strain C58 pGV3850 and then into A. thaliana plants using the floral dip method (Clough and Bent, 1998). Transformants were selected by growth on 0.5x Murashige and Skoog (Caisson Laboratories, Inc., Murashige and Skoog, 1962) media and 0.8% (w/v) agar supplemented with 50 μ g/ml hygromycin (pMDC163 and pGWB203 vectors) or 50 µg/ml kanamycin (pBI101 vector).

Hygromycin/ kanamycin resistant seedlings were transplanted to soil and were grown in a growth chamber with a 16 h light (150µmol/m²/sec)/ 8 h dark photoperiod at 22°C and 70% relative humidity. Plants were watered as necessary and supplemented with 1 g/L 20-20-20 fertilizer every second week until seeds were ready to be collected. T2 generation plants were used for GUS analyses.

Plant material and growth conditions

A. thaliana (ecotype Col-0) seeds were surface sterilized, stratified at 4° C in the dark for 2 d on petri dishes containing sterile MS media and 0.8% (w/v) agar, and then transferred to a growth room with a 24 h photoperiod at 22°C.

Stress treatments

All stress treatments were performed as described by Vanderbeld (2007). For wounding and methyl jasmonate (MeJA) treatments, *A. thaliana* seedlings were allowed to grow on MS plates until stage 1.0-1.04 (Boyes, et al., 2001). At least three independent lines of each construct were analyzed. Wounding experiments used forceps to apply a single pinch to each cotyledon while control plants were not wounded. For fluorometric and histochemical GUS analysis of pBI101 and pMDC163 promoter constructs, samples were collected after 8 h. For fluorometric and histochemical GUS analysis of pGWB203 promoter constructs, samples were collected after 4 h. The response to MeJA was studied by spraying seedlings with 100 μ M MeJA (95% solution, Aldrich) or water (control). Samples were collected after 24 h for fluorometric and histochemical GUS analysis.

Histochemical GUS assays

Assays were performed as described by Vanderbeld (2007). The substrate used for histochemical staining of *CML::GUS* transgenic plants was 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indoyl- β -D-glucuronide (X-Gluc, Bioshop, Jefferson, et al., 1987). Seedlings were harvested and immediately soaked in ice-cold 90% acetone for 1 h on a rotary shaker, then rinsed with 100 mM Na₂HPO₄-NaH₂PO₄ buffer pH 7.0, then placed in GUS staining solution (100 mM Na₂HPO₄-NaH₂PO₄ buffer pH 7.0, 10 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 0.1% Triton X-100, 2 mM K₃Fe(CN)₆, 2 mM K₄Fe(CN)₆, and 1 mM X-Gluc) for 10 min at 55°C. Seedlings were then incubated at 37°C for 5 h, and then cleared by washing with 70% ethanol over a period of 24 h. Control plants were always histochemically stained in an identical fashion to treated plants to allow comparison. Less stringent staining was performed in the exact same manner, but the staining solution omitted 2 mM K₃Fe(CN)₆ and 2 mM K₄Fe(CN)₆. Seedlings were examined with a Zeiss SteREO Discovery.V12 stereomicroscope and digitally photographed.

Fluorometric GUS assays

Multiple replicates of each independent line were analyzed and results were pooled to produce mean GUS activity for each construct. Seedlings were harvested, snap frozen, and homogenized in protein extraction buffer (50 mM Na₂HPO₄-NaH₂PO₄ buffer pH 7.0, 10 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 10 mM EDTA, 0.1% (w/v) sodium lauryl sarcosine, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100). Protein extract was added to assay buffer (50 mM Na₂HPO₄-NaH₂PO₄ buffer pH 7.0, 10 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 10 mM EDTA, 0.1% (w/v) sodium lauryl sarcosine, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100). Protein extract was added to assay buffer (50 mM Na₂HPO₄-NaH₂PO₄ buffer pH 7.0, 10 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 10 mM EDTA, 0.1% (w/v) sodium lauryl sarcosine, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 1 mM 4-methylumbelliferyl glucuronide (MUG, Sigma, Jefferson, et al., 1987)) and allowed to incubate at 37°C for 2 h before 0.2

M Na₂CO₃ was added to stop the reaction. Fluorescence readings were taken at an excitation of 365 nm and an emission of 455 nm. Total protein concentration in the extract was calculated as described previously (Bradford, 1976). All seedlings were treated in an identical manner to allow for direct comparison.

Statistical analysis

One-tailed t-tests were used to assess significance between untreated and treated samples. One-way ANOVAs were used to assess significance between untreated samples and between treated samples.

Websites used for in silico promoter analyses

The search for known *cis*-elements within the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* full-length promoters was performed by four online databases.

AGI codes of *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* (At5g42380, At1g76650, and At1g76640, respectively) were entered into the *Arabidopsis* gene regulatory information server (AGRIS) *cis*-element database (Davuluri, et al., 2003). All default conditions were used.

AGI codes of *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* were entered into the visualization section of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* expression network analysis (Athena) database (O'Connor, et al., 2005). All default conditions were used, except that 2000 bp was used as the maximum upstream cut off.

Full-length promoters in FASTA format were entered into the signal scan search of the plant *cis*-acting regulatory DNA elements (PLACE) database (Higo, et al., 1999). All default conditions were used.

Full-length promoters in FASTA format were entered into the CARE search of the plant *cis*-acting regulatory elements (PlantCARE) database (Lescot, et al., 2002). All default conditions were used.

Co-expressed genes were found using the *Arabidopsis thaliana* trans-factor and *cis*-element prediction database (ATTED) II database (Obayashi, et al., 2009). The AGI code for *CML37* was entered into the CoexVersion search engine. Data set version c6.0 was used.

Putative *cis*-elements responsible for wound-responsiveness were found using the multiple em for motif elicitation (MEME) database (Bailey and Elkan, 1994). Regions within the *CML37* promoter found to be responsible for wound-responsiveness (see results) were entered in FASTA format into the MEME search engine to identify common motifs. All default conditions were used. These motifs were examined using the botany array resource (BAR) promomer database (Toufighi, et al., 2005). Motifs generated by MEME were identified in a) all promoters from the genome, and b) promoters of genes that are co-expressed with *CML37* (found using ATTED II) until a motif that was statistically overrepresented in the co-expressed genes was found.

CHAPTER 3: Results

in silico analysis of CML37, CML38, and CML39 promoters

Analysis of the promoters of *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* was performed by four online databases: AGRIS (Davuluri, et al., 2003), Athena (O'Connor, et al., 2005), PLACE (Higo, et al., 1999), and PlantCARE (Lescot, et al., 2002). These databases search for known *cis*-elements within the provided sequence. Two of these databases (PLACE and PlantCARE) contain information on *cis*-elements from all plant species, while AGRIS and Athena are databases specific for Arabidopsis *cis*-elements.

Summaries of the raw data collected from each of the four databases for the *CML37* promoter, *CML38* promoter, and *CML39* promoter are shown in Table 3.1, Table 3.2, and Table 3.3, respectively. Unsurprisingly, Arabidopsis-specific databases AGRIS and Athena predicted fewer *cis*-elements than all-plant databases. The *CML37* promoter contained the most predicted *cis*-elements, while the *CML39* promoter contained the least; the AGRIS database was only able to find two putative *cis*-elements within the *CML39* promoter. There was little consensus between the four databases; even elements that are well defined and common, such as the TATA box, were found with different frequency by each database.

All four databases predicted a large number of *cis*-elements that are involved in stress response. This is consistent with previous microarray mining and GUS expression experiments of *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* that have shown increased expression following a multitude of stresses (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007).
	Database							
Description of <i>cis</i> -	AGRIS		Athena		PLACE		PlantCARE	
element								
	# of	total # of	# of	total # of	# of	total # of	# of	total # of
	unique	cis-	unique	cis-	unique	cis-	unique	cis-
Floments involved in	sites	elements	sites	elements	sites	elements	site	elements
Elements involved in response to stimuli								
	1	2	2	2	2	17	2	4
ADA	1	3	2	2	2	17	2 1	4
Auxili					1	1	1	1
Cytokinih			2	2	1	l	1	1
GA			2	3	4	6	1	1
Meja					1	2	2	2
Cold					1	2		1
Heat	~	~		2	_	40		1
Light	2	5	1	3	5	43	12	28
Salinity	1	5			1	5		
Drought	2	2	4	9	3	22	1	2
Нурохіа					1	1	1	1
Wounding	1	4	1	4	1	27	2	3
Elicitors					1	2	1	2
Pathogens					1	5		
Copper					1	2		
Iron					1	1		
Sulphur					1	1		
General promoter								
elements								
TATA box			1	2	1	10	1	77
CAAT box					1	21	1	38
Enhancers	1	4	1	1	3	7	1	1
Initiators					1	3		
Elements involved in					2	2	2	2
cellular regulation								
Elements involved in					7	60	2	5
tissue specificity								
Elements found in	2	5	1	2	17	87	1	1
specific gene promoters		-			-			
Known binding sites for	5	6	4	11	16	91	1	1
TF								
Elements with							8	19
unknown function							-	-
			l					

Table 3.1. Summary of *in silico* analysis of *CML37* promoter.

of unique sites indicates the total number of different *cis*-elements in each category, while total # of *cis*-elements indicates the total number of times these *cis*-elements are predicted to be present within the promoter. Elements found in specific gene promoters are *cis*-elements that are statistically overrepresented in a promoter or group of promoters. Functions for TF within the known binding sites for TF section were not provided.

	Database							
Description of <i>cis</i> -	AGRIS		Athena		PLACE		PlantCARE	
element								
	# of	total # of	# of	total # of	# of	total # of	# of	total # of
	unique	cis-	unique	cis-	unique	cis-	unique	cis-
Flomonts involved in	sites	elements	sites	elements	sites	elements	site	elements
Elements involved in rosponso to stimuli								
					2	16		
ADA	1	2			2	10		
Cytokinin	1	2			1	2		
Ethylene					1	1	1	1
GA			1	2	3	6	1	1
MeIA			1	2	5	0	2	1
S A							1	2
5A Heat							1	2 1
Light	4	9	1	1	5	36	10	18
Salinity	-	,	1	1	1	2	10	10
Drought	1	2	1	1	4	23		
Hypoxia	1	2	1	1	1	23	1	1
Wounding	1	3	1	4	1	22	1	3
Elicitors	-	Ū.	-	•	1	3	1	3
Pathogens					1	4	-	Ū.
General defence					-	-	1	2
Copper					1	8		
Sulphur					1	2		
General promoter								
elements								
TATA box			1	3	1	10	1	56
CAAT box					1	20	1	29
Enhancers					3	10	1	1
Initiators					1	5		
Elements involved in	1	2	1	1	2	2	1	2
cellular regulation								
Elements involved in					6	53	2	2
tissue specificity								
Elements found in	1	2			19	87		
specific gene promoters								
Known binding sites for	5	14	4	10	12	77	2	3
TF								
Elements with							4	8
unknown function								

Table 3.2. Summary of *in silico* analysis of CML38 promoter.

of unique sites indicates the total number of different *cis*-elements in each category, while total # of *cis*-elements indicates the total number of times these *cis*-elements are predicted to be present within the promoter. Elements found in specific gene promoters are *cis*-elements that are statistically overrepresented in a promoter or group of promoters. Functions for TF within the known binding sites for TF section were not provided.

	Database								
Description of <i>cis</i> -	AGRIS		Athena		PLACE		PlantCARE		
element									
	# of unique sites	total # of <i>cis</i> - elements	# of unique sites	total # of <i>cis</i> - elements	# of unique sites	total # of <i>cis</i> - elements	# of unique site	total # of <i>cis-</i> elements	
Elements involved in									
response to stimuli					1	4			
					1	4			
Cytokinin			1	2	1	3	1	1	
GA			1	2	2	3	1	1	
MeJA							2	2	
SA						10	1	2	
Light				1	4	19	7	10	
Cold				l	l	3	1	I	
Drought			1	1	3	9			
Нурохіа					1	1			
Wounding			1	3	1	15	1	2	
Elicitors					1	2	1	2	
Pathogens					1	3			
General defence							1	2	
General promoter									
elements									
TATA box			1	2	1	2	1	47	
CAAT box					1	21	1	30	
Enhancers					3	4			
Initiators					1	4			
Elements involved in					2	3	1	1	
cellular regulation									
Elements involved in					5	38	1	1	
tissue specificity									
Elements found in					15	51			
specific gene promoters									
Known binding sites for TF	2	2	1	1	9	47			
Elements with unknown function							3	5	

Table 3.3. Summary of *in silico* analysis of *CML39* promoter.

of unique sites indicates the total number of different *cis*-elements in each category, while total # of *cis*-elements indicates the total number of times these *cis*-elements are predicted to be present within the promoter. Elements found in specific gene promoters are *cis*-elements that are statistically overrepresented in a promoter or group of promoters. Functions for TF within the known binding sites for TF section were not provided.

General promoter elements were predicted in all three promoters, as well *cis*elements with unknown function. Other types of *cis*-elements found within the three promoters are elements that are involved in cellular regulation and tissue specificity.

Several elements from specific promoters were predicted by the database analysis. These elements were discovered by searching for statistically overrepresented elements in groups of coexpressed genes.

The final category of *cis*-elements predicted in the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* promoters were elements that are known binding sites for specific TF. These elements, as well as the stress-responsive *cis*-elements, were examined for elements that may have roles in the regulation of *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39*.

In order to simplify analysis of data derived from database searching, putative *cis*elements involved in wounding and MeJA responses were identified in the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* promoters. WRKY TF are known to function in wound response and bind to W-boxes (Eulgem, et al., 2000). The WUN-motif is a wound responsive *cis*element that was found in the *WUN1* gene (Siebertz, et al., 1989). Locations of W-boxes and WUN-motifs within the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* promoters are shown in Figure 3.1 (Aa, Ba, Ca).

Another large family of TF that have been implicated in wound response, and in many other stress responses is the MYB superfamily (Singh, et al., 2002). Conserved MYB-binding motifs are found within many wound-responsive genes (Dong, et al., 2003; Eulgem, 2005), indicating a role in defence. Many MYB binding sites were predicted (A)



Figure 3.1. Graphical representation of locations of *cis*-elements within the (A) *CML37*, (B) *CML38*, and (C) *CML39* promoters.

Locations of (a) wound-responsive *cis*-elements (W-boxes = red, WUN motif = black), (b) MYB binding sites (blue), and (c) JA-responsive *cis*-elements (MYC binding sites = green, CGTCA motif = pink) within the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* promoters. Data is pooled from raw *in silico* data. within the CML37, CML38, and CML39 promoters (Figure 3.1 Ab, Bb, Cb).

MYC TF are known to be involved in JA signalling (Boter, et al., 2004). MYC binding sites are defined as CANNTG, and are shown in Figure 3.1 (Ac, Bc, Cc). Also presented in this figure are the locations of the CGTCA motif. This motif was found by the PlantCARE database, but little information is provided except that it is involved in MeJA response.

Analysis of 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors

Full-length promoter constructs for *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* subcloned into the pBI101 vector were provided by B. Vanderbeld (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007). While several deletion constructs were also subcloned into pBI101, the majority of the deletion constructs were subcloned into the pMDC163 gateway vector (Curtis and Grossniklaus, 2003) to simplify cloning procedures. For GUS reporter analysis, at least four independent lines of each construct were compared. GUS activity levels were consistent among the transgenic lines.

CML37 promoter analysis

Transgenic seedlings containing either the full-length *CML37* promoter or one of four 5' deletion constructs (Figure 3.2) were analyzed for GUS activity following wounding. Three of these constructs were created in the pMDC163 vector (-571*, -474*, and -224*) while the full-length construct (-1919^) and the final deletion construct (-656^) were created in the pBI101 vector.

Transgenic seedlings were wounded with forceps and samples were collected 8 h



Figure 3.2. Diagram of *CML37* 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors.

-1919[^] represents the full-length *CML37* promoter. [^] represents constructs within the pBI101 vector, while * denotes constructs within the pMDC163 vector.

following treatment. Representative patterns of GUS expression following wounding in CML37 promoter deletion constructs are shown in Figure 3.3. As expected from previous analysis of CML37::GUS expression (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007), transgenic seedlings containing the full-length promoter construct did not show staining in control conditions (Figure 3.3 Aa) but showed distinct expression surrounding the wound site (Figure 3.3 Ab). Transgenic seedlings containing the -656[^] deletion construct showed the same expression pattern as the full-length promoter construct (Figure 3.3 Ba, Bb). Transgenic seedlings containing all of the remaining deletion constructs showed constitutive GUS expression in control conditions (Figure 3.3 Ca, Da, Ea) and there did not appear to be a difference in GUS expression following wounding (Figure 3.3 Cb, Db, Eb). Fluorometric GUS assays were also carried out to quantify GUS activity (Figure 3.4). These assays confirmed the staining patterns. Transgenic seedlings containing either the -1919[^] or -656[^] constructs showed significant increases in GUS activity following wounding, while transgenic seedlings containing the -571*, -474*, or -224* constructs showed high constitutive activity that was not affected by wounding.

CML38 promoter analysis

Transgenic seedlings containing either the full-length *CML38* promoter or one 5' deletion construct (Figure 3.5) were analyzed for GUS activity following wounding. This deletion construct (-324*) was in the pMDC163 vector, while the full-length construct (-1438^) was in the pBI101 vector.

Transgenic seedlings were wounded with forceps and samples were collected 8 h following treatment. Representative patterns of GUS expression following wounding are



Figure 3.3. Representative patterns of GUS expression in *CML37* 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors.

Transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings of stage 1.0-1.04 containing the full-length *CML37* promoter (A) or one of four 5' deletion GUS constructs (B-E) were either unwounded controls (a) or wounded (b) and assayed for GUS activity 8 h after treatment. $^$ indicates constructs within the pB1101 vector, while * denotes constructs within the pMDC163 vector. *Bars* = 1 mm. Arrows denote wound sites.



Figure 3.4. Graphical representation of GUS activity in *CML37* 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors.

Transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings of stage 1.0-1.04 containing the full-length *CML37* promoter or one of four 5' deletion GUS constructs were either unwounded controls (white bars) or wounded (grey bars) and assayed for GUS activity 8 h after treatment. ^ indicates constructs within the pBI101 vector, while * denotes constructs within the pMDC163 vector. X indicates that the wounded samples had significantly more GUS activity than their unwounded controls (one-tailed t-test, p<0.05, n>25). Error bars represent ± standard error of the mean.



Figure 3.5. Diagram of *CML38* 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors.

-1438[^] represents the full-length *CML38* promoter. [^] represents constructs in the pBI101 vector, while * indicates constructs in the pMDC163 vector.

shown in Figure 3.6. As seen previously (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007), transgenic seedlings containing the full-length *CML38* promoter construct did not show staining under control conditions (Figure 3.6 Aa) but showed localized expression around the wound site (Figure 3.6 Ab). As seen in the *CML37* promoter deletions in the pMDC163 vector, transgenic seedlings containing the -324* *CML38* deletion construct showed constitutive expression in control conditions (Figure 3.6 Ba). Transgenic seedlings containing this construct showed no apparent change in GUS expression following wounding (Figure 3.6 Bb). Fluorometric assays were carried out to quantify the GUS expression in these constructs (Figure 3.7). These assays showed the same trends as the histochemical staining. Transgenic seedlings containing the -1438^ construct showed a significant increase following wounding, while transgenic seedlings containing the -324* construct showed high constitutive expression that was unaffected by wounding.

CML39 promoter analysis

Transgenic seedlings containing either the full-length *CML39* promoter or one 5' deletion construct (Figure 3.8) were analyzed for GUS activity following MeJA application. This deletion construct (-301[^]) was in the pBI101 vector as was the full-length construct (-941[^]).

Transgenic seedlings were sprayed with 100 μ M MeJA and samples were collected 24 h following treatment. Representative patterns of GUS expression following MeJA treatment are shown in Figure 3.9. As previously described (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007), transgenic seedlings containing the full-length *CML39* untreated controls showed no GUS expression (Figure 3.9 Aa) while a large increase in GUS expression was seen



Figure 3.6. Representative patterns of GUS expression in *CML38* 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors.

Transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings of stage 1.0-1.04 containing the full-length *CML38* promoter (A) or one 5' deletion GUS constructs (B) were either unwounded controls (a) or wounded (b) and assayed for GUS activity 8 h after treatment. ^ indicates constructs within the pBI101 vector, while * denotes constructs within the pMDC163 vector. *Bars* = 1 mm.



Figure 3.7. Graphical representation of GUS activity in *CML38* 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors.

Transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings of stage 1.0-1.04 containing the full-length *CML38* promoter or a 5' deletion GUS construct were either unwounded (white bars) or wounded (grey bars) and assayed for GUS activity 8 h after treatment. ^ indicates constructs within the pBI101 vector, while * denotes constructs within the pMDC163 vector. X indicates that the wounded samples had significantly more GUS activity than their unwounded controls (one-tailed t-test, p<0.05, n>25). Error bars represent \pm standard error of the mean.



Figure 3.8. Diagram of *CML39* **5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 vector.** -941^ represents the full-length *CML39* promoter. ^ represents constructs within the pBI101 vector.



Figure 3.9. Representative patterns of GUS expression in *CML39* 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 vector.

Transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings of stage 1.0-1.04 containing the full-length *CML38* promoter (A) or one 5' deletion GUS constructs (B) were either sprayed with water (a) or sprayed with 100 μ M MeJA (b) and assayed for GUS activity 24 h after treatment. ^ indicates constructs within the pBI101 vector. *Bars* = 1 mm.

following MeJA treatment (Figure 3.9 Ab). Transgenic seedlings containing the -301[^] deletion construct also showed no expression under control conditions (Figure 3.9 Ba) and levels similar to controls following MeJA treatment (Figure 3.9 Bb). Fluorometric assays were carried out to quantify GUS activity (Figure 3.10). These assays supported the results of the histochemical staining. The GUS activity of transgenic seedlings containing the -941[^] construct was very low under control conditions but significantly increased following MeJA application. Transgenic seedlings containing the -301[^] construct showed little GUS activity under both control and MeJA treated conditions, indicating that the *cis*-element responsible for MeJA responsiveness within the *CML39* promoter had been removed.

Analysis of CML37 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector

Given that all transgenic seedlings harbouring deletion constructs within the pMDC163 vector showed constitutive expression (see above) and thus likely artificial, all *CML::GUS* constructs were resubcloned into the pGWB203 vector (Nakagawa, et al., 2007), which is a Gateway vector that uses pBI101 as a backbone.

Promoter analysis

Transgenic seedlings containing one of ten *CML37* promoter constructs (Figure 3.11) were analyzed for GUS activity following wounding. At least four independent lines of each construct were analyzed except for transgenic seedlings containing the -270 or the -164 constructs where only three independent lines were analyzed, and the -370 construct where only one independent line was isolated. GUS activity and expression was consistent across all transgenic independent lines.



Figure 3.10. Graphical representation of GUS activity in *CML39* 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 vector.

Transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings of stage 1.0-1.04 containing the full-length *CML38* promoter or a 5' deletion GUS construct were either sprayed with water (white bars) or sprayed with 100 μ M MeJA (grey bars) and assayed for GUS activity 24 h after treatment. ^ indicates constructs within the pBI101 vector. X indicates that the MeJA treated samples had significantly more GUS activity than their untreated controls (one-tailed t-test, p<0.05, n>25). Error bars represent ± standard error of the mean.



Figure 3.11. Diagram of *CML37* **5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector.** -1919 represents full-length *CML37* promoter construct. All constructs are in the pGWB203 vector.

Transgenic seedlings were wounded with forceps and samples were collected 4 h following treatment. Representative patterns of GUS expression following wounding in transgenic seedlings containing either the full-length (-1919) or one of the five longest (-656, -571, -474, -408, -370) *CML37* promoter deletion constructs are shown in Figure 3.12. Transgenic seedlings containing these constructs showed little staining under control conditions (Figure 3.12 Aa, Ba, Ca, Da, Ea, Fa) but showed GUS expression around the wound site following wounding (Figure 3.12 Ab, Bb, Cb, Db, Eb, Fb). Transgenic seedlings containing on of the four shorter *CML37* promoter deletion constructs (-321, -270, -224, -164) did not show any GUS staining, either under control or wounded conditions (data not shown). This may be due to the stringency of staining conditions. Transgenic seedlings containing one of these four constructs were stained with less stringent staining conditions (see materials and methods), but still did not show any GUS staining (data not shown).

Fluorometric assays were carried out to quantify GUS activity under both control and wounded conditions (Figure 3.13 A). For clarity, the GUS activities of transgenic seedlings containing one of the four shortest promoter constructs are also shown in Figure 3.13 B. Transgenic seedlings containing all constructs except the shortest (-164) showed a significant increase in GUS activity following wounding. Under control conditions, transgenic seedling containing one of the longest six constructs (-1919, -656, -571, -474, -408, -370) showed a general downward trend of GUS activity. This is likely due to the loss of general promoter elements when shortening the promoter. There was a significant decrease in GUS activity under control conditions between transgenic seedlings containing the -370 and the -321 constructs, suggesting that an enhancer element or an





Figure 3.12. Representative patterns of GUS expression in *CML37* 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector.

Transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings of stage 1.0-1.04 containing the full-length *CML37* promoter (A) or one of the four longest 5' deletion GUS constructs (B-F) were either unwounded controls (a) or wounded (b) and assayed for GUS activity 4 h after treatment. Bars = 1 mm.



Figure 3.13. Graphical representation of GUS activity in *CML37* 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector.

Transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings of stage 1.0-1.04 containing the full-length *CML37* promoter or one of nine 5' deletion GUS constructs (A) were either unwounded (white bars) or wounded (grey bars) and assayed for GUS activity following 4 h. * indicates that the wounded samples had significantly more GUS activity than their unwounded controls (one-tailed t-test, p<0.05, n>5). For clarity, (B) also shows the four shortest deletion constructs on an expanded scale. Error bars represent \pm standard error of the mean.

element necessary for expression was deleted. There is also a significant decrease in GUS expression under control conditions between the -270 and the -224 constructs.

There appears to be more than one element that is responsible for the woundresponsiveness of *CML37*. There are significant decreases in the magnitude of GUS expression between transgenic seedlings containing the -1919 and the -656 constructs, the -656 and -571 constructs, and the -321 and -270 constructs. These decreases may indicate that the *CML37* promoter has multiple wound-responsive *cis*-elements. There were also significant differences in wound-induced GUS expression between transgenic seedlings containing the -270 and the -321 constructs and between the -270 and the -224 constructs; however, both differences may be explained by the decrease in overall GUS activity, as there were similar decreases under control conditions.

Putative elements responsible for wound response

There are three regions of the promoter that, when deleted, decrease the wound responsiveness of the *CML37* promoter. These regions were examined for known wound-responsive *cis*-elements. Five W-boxes are lost when the promoter is shortened from - 1919 to -656. No known wound-responsive element is lost when the promoter is changed from -656 to -571. The putative WUN motif is deleted from the *CML37* promoter when it is shortened from -321 to -270.

In addition to known *cis*-elements, novel motifs were examined. Using the MEME database (Bailey and Elkan, 1994), motifs common to all three wound-responsive regions were examined. A list of genes that are coexpressed with *CML37* during stress response was generated by the ATTED II database (Obayashi, et al., 2009). The promoters of these coexpressed genes were examined for the putative *cis*-elements discovered by MEME by

the BAR (Toufighi, et al., 2005). One putative element, with a sequence of AAAAA (the sequence logo provided by MEME is shown in Figure 3.14 A), was found to be overrepresented in the promoters of genes coexpressed with *CML37* (Figure 3.14 B). This element was found six times within the *CML37* promoter, but only in the regions that were found to be wound-responsive. The AAAAA motif was entered into both the PLACE and PlantCARE databases, but it was not a previously described *cis*-element.





Figure 3.14. Motif common among wound-responsive regions of *CML37* promoter and distribution of the motif in genes coexpressed with *CML37*.

(A) motif common to wound-responsive regions of *CML37* promoter found by MEME. (B) distribution of AAAAA motif in promoters of genes coexpressed with *CML37* (found using ATTED II) compared to distribution of AAAAA motif in all promoters of the Arabidopsis genome (analysis performed by the BAR). Z score = 3.7, p = 0.001.

CHAPTER 4: Discussion

Plants must be able to make transcriptional changes quickly in order to express required genes to respond to external stimuli. Signal transduction pathways are induced so that the plant may elicit the correct response. Ca^{2+} signalling plays an important role in many stress responses, including defence (Lecourieux et al., 2006). Previous research has shown that the transcripts of a subfamily of Ca^{2+} -binding proteins, *CMLs 37-39*, are increased following various stresses, most notably wounding and MeJA application (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007). The upstream signalling events that lead to these expression increases are unknown. In order to shed light on the signalling pathways of these CMLs, this study was undertaken to find the *cis*-elements in the 5' upstream promoter regions of these genes that are responsible for their expression patterns.

in silico analysis of CML37, CML38, and CML39 promoters

Full-length *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* promoters were examined for known *cis*elements using the online databases AGRIS, Athena, PLACE, and PlantCARE. Many putative *cis*-elements were found within the three promoters; the raw data is summarized in Table 3.1, Table 3.2, and Table 3.3.

Among the known *cis*-elements predicted within the three *CML* promoters, a number are implicated in stress response; however, several problems with the raw data become evident under closer inspection. Many of the *cis*-elements that have been entered into the database are not very specific. For instance, an element that is known to have a function in circadian expression has a given sequence of CAANNNNATC (where N

represents any nucleotide). These cis-elements with non-specific sequences can likely be found in a wide range of promoter sequences making them unreliable for the purposes of this study. The PLACE database also finds the same elements more than once. Palindromic sequences are found twice: both on the + strand of DNA as well as on the strand. For instance, the recognition sequence of the MYC transcription factors is provided as CANNTG. Ten of these sequences are reported within the *CML37* promoter; however, there are only five sequences, but the search engine finds each one twice. Additionally, many similar entries in the database cause an increase in the output number of cis-elements. There are five separate entries for W-boxes in the PLACE database. Wboxes are known binding sites of WRKY transcription factors (Eulgem, et al., 2000). The given sequences of these W-boxes are TTTGACY, TTGAC, TGACT, TGACY, and TGAC (where Y represents a T or C nucleotide). If the sequence TTTGACT is found within a promoter sequence, the database reports five W-boxes instead of one. Within the CML37 promoter the database reported 27 distinct W-boxes (shown under wounding in Table 3.1), but closer inspection revealed that there are only eleven unique sites (Figure 3.1 Aa).

Another factor to consider is the location of these genes on the chromosome. The promoter region was considered to be the region upstream of the ATG start site of each gene extending to the UTR of the nearest neighbour gene (see materials and methods). For *CML37* the nearest neighbour gene (At5g42390) is in the opposite orientation as *CML37*, indicating that the 5' promoter region of At5g42390 is simply the reverse complement of the *CML37* promoter. Since the online database search both the + and – strands of the given promoter, many of the *cis*-elements found for *CML37* may in fact be driving the expression of At5g42390, particularly those at the 5' end of the *CML37*

promoter. For *CML39*, the UTR of the nearest neighbour gene is the 3' UTR of *CML38*. The 3' downstream region of a gene can also contain *cis*-elements, meaning that the *CML39* promoter region may contain *cis*-elements required for *CML38* expression, particularly those at the 5' end of the *CML39* promoter.

Although a large amount of data were provided by the online *cis*-element search databases, it is impossible to identify with certainty the region or regions of the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* promoters that are responsible for their expression patterns. In order to identify correctly the region(s) responsible for gene expression, 5' deletion *promoter::GUS* constructs of the three promoters were generated and then assessed for GUS activity compared to the full-length promoter.

Analysis of 5' deletion constructs in the pBI101 and pMDC163 vectors

Transgenic seedlings containing either the full-length or 5' promoter deletion constructs were analyzed for their responses to wounding (*CML37* and *CML38*) or MeJA application (*CML39*). Full-length promoter constructs for *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* were generated by B. Vanderbeld (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007). These constructs were produced in the pBI101 vector. Although a couple 5' deletion constructs were also generated in the pBI101 vector, the majority were produced in the pMDC163 vector to simplify cloning procedures (Curtis and Grossniklaus, 2003). This vector is a gateway-compatible vector that uses a pCAMBIA vector (http://www.cambia.org/) as a backbone (all vector maps are shown in Appendix 1).

Transgenic seedlings containing either the full-length promoter or one of four 5' deletion constructs of *CML37* (Figure 3.2) were analyzed for GUS activity, both by histochemical staining (Figure 3.3) and by fluormetric assays (Figure 3.4). Transgenic

seedlings containing the full-length *CML37* promoter construct (-1919^{\circ}) showed the same GUS staining patterns as seen previously (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007): no staining was observed under control conditions (Figure 3.3 Aa), but there was distinct staining surrounding the wound site (Figure 3.3 Ab). Transgenic seedlings containing the only deletion construct that was within the pB1101 vector (-656^{\circ}) showed the same staining pattern (Figure 3.3 Ba, Bb). The other three deletion constructs were in the pMDC163 vector (-571^{*}, -474^{*}, -224^{*}). Transgenic seedlings containing these constructs all showed constitutive expression under control conditions (Figure 3.3 Ca, Da, Ea) that was not affected by wounding (Figure 3.4). There may be a tissue-specific *cis*-element located between -656 bp and -571 bp of the *CML37* promoter that, when deleted, causes constitutive expression of *CML37*. It is much more likely, however, that the pMDC163 vector itself is responsible for the constitutive expression.

The pCAMBIA vector that the pMDC163 vector uses as a backbone contains a gene that confers hygromycin resistance in plants. This gene is driven by two copies of the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter, which is a strong promoter that shows high constitutive expression (Fang, et al., 1989). It has been reported that the 35S promoter interferes with GUS expression patterns and that this interference is exacerbated in experiments where researchers attempt to analyze trimmed-down versions of their promoters of interest, which lack the natural insulating sequences of full-length promoters (http://www.cambia.org/). An empty vector control was created by transforming promoterless pMDC163 into plants. These plants did not show any GUS activity (data not shown). It may be that the 35S promoter is simply able to enhance GUS expression; without minimal promoter elements transcription cannot be initiated. Therefore, it is

likely that the constitutive expression shown by the -571*, -474*, and -224* constructs is due to 35S interference.

This interference was also seen when analyzing transgenic seedlings containing *CML38* promoter constructs (Figure 3.5). Transgenic seedlings containing the full-length promoter showed no GUS staining under control conditions (Figure 3.6 Aa) but showed increased expression around the wound site (Figure 3.6 Ab), as previously reported (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007). Transgenic seedlings containing the 5' deletion construct (-324*), which was in the pMDC163 vector, showed constitutive activity (Figure 3.6 Ba) that was not affected by wounding (Figure 3.6 Bb). The staining patterns were corroborated by fluorometric assays (Figure 3.7).

Both the full-length and 5' deletion construct of *CML39* were created in the pBI101 vector (Figure 3.8). Transgenic seedlings containing the full-length promoter behaved as described previously (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007): under control conditions no staining was observed (Figure 3.9 Aa), but GUS expression was massively induced following MeJA application (Figure 3.9 Ab). Transgenic seedlings containing the -301^ deletion construct showed no staining under either control or wounded conditions (Figure 3.9 Ba, Bb). Fluorometric assay data showed the same trends (Figure 3.10). Since both of these constructs were in the same vector, it can be inferred that the *cis*-element responsible for the increase in GUS activity following MeJA application had been deleted from the *CML39* promoter. This element appears to lie in the 640 bp that separate the -941^ and -301^ constructs. More 5' deletion constructs must be created and analyzed to further narrow down the location of this element.

Analysis of CML37 5' deletion constructs in the pGWB203 vector

Due to problems with the pMDC163 vector, it was decided that further promoter constructs would be created in a different vector that did not have the 35S promoter driving a resistance gene. The full-length *CML37* promoter and nine 5' deletions (Figure 3.11) were subcloned into the pGWB203 vector (Nakagawa, et al., 2007). This vector is a gateway-compatible vector that uses pBI101 as a backbone. Both the gene for resistance to kanamycin in bacteria (*NPTII*) and the gene for hygromycin resistance in plants (*HPT*) are driven by the Nos promoter, which is a weaker promoter than the 35S and does not interfere with GUS expression (Nakagawa, et al., 2007).

Several of the 5' deletion constructs had fewer plant lines than desirable (especially -370, which only had one independent line). This makes it difficult to account for the effects of location of insertion. More independent lines have been isolated and will be assayed for GUS activity in the future. Transgenic seedlings containing one of the CML37 promoter constructs were assayed for GUS activity, in both control conditions and following wounding. Transgenic seedlings containing the full-length promoter showed the same staining patterns in the pGWB203 vector as it had in the pBI101 vector (Figure 3.12 Aa, Ab). Transgenic seedlings containing one of the five longest 5' deletion constructs (-656, -571, -474, -408, -370) also showed no staining in control conditions (Figure 3.12 Ba, Ca, Da, Ea, Fa) but distinct staining around the wound site (Figure 3.12 Bb, Cb, Db, Eb, Fb). Transgenic seedlings containing the four shortest 5' deletion constructs (-321, -270, -224, -164) did not show any staining under either control or wounded conditions. In order to test whether this lack of staining was due to the stringency of staining conditions, transgenic seedling containing these four constructs were also stained with a less stringent staining solution (data not shown). The transgenic seedlings still did not show staining at all. It is unclear whether the transgenic plants did not show staining because they do not respond to wounding or because GUS expression is below the threshold of detection by staining.

Fluorometric assays were carried out to quantify GUS activity (Figure 3.13). The quantitative data correlated to the observed staining patterns. Interestingly, the absolute values of GUS activity in the full-length promoter were much higher in the pGWB203 vector than in the pBI101 vector (Figure 3.4). There were several differences between the two experiments so it is difficult to identify the reason for this difference. The most obvious difference is between the vectors. The pGWB203 vector is very similar to the pBI101 vector; the only difference is the addition of a hygromycin resistance gene driven by the Nos promoter (Nakagawa, et al., 2007). Previous studies have determined that the Nos promoter does not interfere with GUS expression (Nakagawa, et al., 2007). Although an empty vector control may be helpful in addressing this question, the lack of a minimal promoter within such a control may compromise its usefulness (see above). This is likely not the reason for the difference between expression in the pGWB203 and pBI101 vectors.

Another possibility to explain the differences may be due to the design of the experiment. Transgenic seedlings containing full-length promoter constructs in the pBI101 vector were wounded and collected 8 h following treatment, while those containing the promoter in the pGWB203 vector were collected 4 h following treatment. *CML37* transcripts are induced 100 fold by 30 minutes after wounding and return to normal levels by 12 h (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007). The GUS enzyme may begin to be degraded or lose activity after 8 h. This may account for the lower GUS activity seen

59

in the pBI101 vector. The activity of GUS should be analyzed at both 4 h and 8 h in both the pBI101 and pGWB203 vectors to test this hypothesis.

The fluorometric data for transgenic seedlings containing the CML37 5' deletion constructs were analyzed (Figure 3.13). Under control conditions, there was a general downward trend of GUS activity. This was likely due to the loss of enhancer elements that are distributed throughout the entire promoter. There were significant decreases in GUS activity between transgenic seedlings containing the -370 or -321 constructs and between the -270 or -224 constructs. These decreases were most likely due to the loss of elements required for normal expression patterns. Transgenic seedlings containing any construct except for the shortest (-164) showed significant increases in GUS activity following wounding. The -270 and -224 constructs only showed approximately a 1.5-fold increase in GUS activity. This, coupled with lack of detectable staining, made it unclear whether seedlings containing these constructs undergo a wound site-specific increase in expression. The large increase in expression following wounding was lost between transgenic seedlings containing the -321 or the -270 construct. There were other areas that, when deleted, caused a decrease in wound response. These areas were between the -1919 and -656 constructs and between the -656 and -571 constructs. Although at first glance there appeared to be a large difference in wound response between the -370 and -321 constructs this difference was likely due to the overall decrease in GUS activity, as both these constructs showed similar increases in activity following wounding (approximately 5-fold).

The regions that, when deleted, caused a decrease in wound responsiveness were analyzed for known wound-responsive elements. The region between the -1919 and the -656 constructs is quite large. There are five putative W-boxes in this region that are

known to bind WRKY TF (Eulgem, et al., 2000). Since WRKY TF are known to function in the regulation of defence response (Eulgem, 2005), it is reasonable to assume that the wound-responsiveness of CML37 is due to W-boxes. However, many regions in the CML37 promoter contain putative W-boxes that do not cause the wound response to decrease when deleted (between constructs -571 and -474, -474 and -408, -370 and -321, -270 and -224). Also, the other regions that control wound responsiveness (between -656 and -571 and between -321 and -270) do not contain putative W-boxes. It may be that the putative W-boxes in the region between -1919 and -656 act with different woundresponsive elements in the regions between -656 and -571 and between -321 and -270 to confer the total wound responsiveness of the CML37 promoter. The question remains as to how WRKY TF are able to distinguish between the W-boxes in the -1919 and -656 region and W-boxes in all the other regions of the promoter. It therefore seems unlikely that the wound-responsiveness of the CML37 promoter is exclusively due to activation by WRKY TF. There are also quite a few predicted MYB-binding *cis*-elements in the region between -1919 and -656, but the same problems arise as when considering W-boxes, indicating that MYB TF are also not likely to control exclusively the wound-response in CML37.

No wound-responsive *cis*-elements were predicted within the region between -656 and -571 of the *CML37* promoter. There are very few known elements found in this region. There is a MYC recognition sequence, which is known to confer JAresponsiveness (Boter, et al., 2004). As *CML37* is not responsive to JA (Vanderbeld and Snedden, 2007) it is unlikely that this *cis*-element is involved in its expression. There may be a novel element within this region of the *CML37* promoter that either induces or enhances wound expression. Such a putative element would probably function with other elements in wound-responsive regions of the promoter to confer the wound-responsiveness displayed by the full-length *CML37* promoter.

The region between the -321 and -270 of the *CML37* promoter contained a putative WUN-motif. This motif was originally found in the potato wound-inducible *WUN1* gene (Siebertz, et al., 1989). This is the only instance of the WUN-motif within the *CML37* promoter. It may be acting with different *cis*-elements in the other wound-responsive regions of to achieve the overall wound-responsiveness of the full-length *CML37* promoter.

The potential for a novel *cis*-element within these three regions was examined. In order to be a candidate for this putative *cis*-element, motifs had to be present in all three of the wound responsive regions of CML37 but nowhere else in the promoter, and be statistically overrepresented in genes that are coexpressed with CML37. Although many putative motifs were found by the motif-searching program MEME (Bailey and Elkan, 1994), only one of these motifs fit the other criteria. This motif (AAAAA, Figure 3.14 A) is found six times within the CML37 promoter, but only in those regions that confer wound-responsiveness. It is also statistically overrepresented in genes coexpressed with CML37 (Figure 3.14 B). Although it is very generic, it does not match any known ciselements within the PLACE or PlantCARE databases. There is no precedence in the literature for a mononucleotide element. Although several elements containing mononucleotide repeats, such as the pyrimidine box (sequence: TTTTTCC), which is required for GA induction in barley (Cercos et al., 1999), are known, no elements that consist of a single mononucleotide repeat have been found. The AAAAA motif is therefore very suspect; however, it may still be a part of a larger regulatory element. The regions that confer wound-responsiveness to the full-length CML37 promoter must be
narrowed down further, perhaps by a gel mobility shift assay. The narrowed down regions must then be tested for their ability to induce wound-responsive expression.

Future directions

This study raises many questions and opens many areas for further study. As stated above, the wound-responsive regions of the *CML37* promoter require further identification. In addition, 5' deletion constructs of both *CML38* and *CML39* in the pGWB203 vector, many of which have already been transformed into plants (see Appendix 2), must be analyzed for their responses to wounding and MeJA, respectively. Narrowing down the region of wound-responsiveness in *CML38* will likely complement the work performed on the *CML37* promoter; the same *cis*-element(s) may be responsible for the wound-responsiveness in both promoters. Once identified, these *cis*-elements can be used to find upstream TF through yeast one-hybrid studies. This will shed light on the signalling pathways of these three genes.

In summary, this study found that three regions in the *CML37* promoter were responsible for its wound-inducible expression. There are also regions that have essential elements for expression under control conditions. A 600 bp region that confers MeJA-responsiveness to *CML39* was identified. Additionally, it was found that the pMDC163 vector was not useful for studying promoter deletion constructs. It was also not possible to identify conclusively which *cis*-elements conferred wound-responsiveness for the *CML37* promoter using only online databases. These databases were useful for identifying a putative *cis*-element once the regions of wound-responsiveness were known. It remains unclear whether repeats of a single novel element are responsible for the wound-responsiveness of the *CML37* promoter, or whether different elements (both

known and novel) in the wound-responsive regions are working together to produce the overall wound response of the full-length promoter. This study lays the groundwork for future studies that aim to identify upstream signalling pathways of the *CML37*, *CML38*, and *CML39* genes.

LITERATURE CITED

Aarts MGM, Fiers MWEJ (2003) What drives plant stress genes? Trends Plant Sci 8: 99-102

Agrawal AA (2005) Future directions in the study of induced plant responses to herbivory. Entomol Exp Appl **115:** 97-105

Agrawal AA, Kurashige NS (2003) A role for isothiocyanates in plant resistance against the specialist herbivore *Pieris rapae*. J Chem Ecol **29:** 1403-1415

Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P (2002) Molecular biology of the cell, Ed 4. Garland Science, United States of America

Alborn HT, Hansen TV, Jones TH, Bennett DC, Tumlinson JH, Schmelz EA, Teal PEA (2007) Disulfooxy fatty acids from the American bird grasshopper *Schistocerca americana*, elicitors of plant volatiles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **104**: 12976-12981

Alborn T, Turlings TCJ, Jones TH, Stenhagen G, Loughrin JH, Tumlinson JH (1997) An elicitor of plant volatiles from beet armyworm oral secretion. Science 276: 945-949

Allen GJ, Chu SP, Harrington CL, Schumacher K, Hoffmann T, Tang YY, Grill E, Schroeder JI (2001) A defined range of guard cell calcium oscillation parameters encodes stomatal movements. Nature **411**: 1053-1057

Bähler M, Rhoads A (2002) Calmodulin signaling via the IQ motif. FEBS Lett **513**: 107-113

Bailey TL, Elkan C (1994) Fitting a mixture model by expectation maximization to discover motifs in biopolymers. Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Intelligent Systems for Molecular Biology. AAAI Press, Menlo Park, California, pp 28-36

Berger B, Stracke R, Yatusevich R, Weisshaar B, Flügge UI, Gigolashvili T (2007) A simplified method for the analysis of transcription factor-promoter interactions that allows high-throughput data generation. Plant J **50**: 911-916

Bergey DR, Ryan CA (1999) Wound- and systemin-inducible calmodulin gene expression in tomato leaves. Plant Mol Biol 40: 815-823

Boter M, Ruiz-Rivero O, Abdeen A, Prat S (2004) Conserved MYC transcription factors play a key role in jasmonate signaling both in tomato and Arabidopsis. Genes Dev **18:** 1577-1591

Bouché N, Scharlat A, Snedden W, Bouchez D, Fromm H (2002) A novel family of calmodulin-binding transcription activators in multicellular organisms. J Biol Chem **277**: 21851-21861

Bouché N, Yellen A, Snedden WA, Fromm H (2005) Plant-specific calmodulin-binding proteins. Annu Rev Plant Biol 56: 435-466

Boyes DC, Zayed AM, Ascenzi R, McCaskill AJ, Hoffman NE, Davis KR, Gorlach J (2001) Growth stage-based phenotypic analysis of Arabidopsis: A model for high throughput functional genomics in plants. Plant Cell **13:** 1499-1510

Braam J, Davis RW (1990) Rain-, wind-, and touch-induced expression of calmodulin and calmodulin-related genes in Arabidopsis. Cell **60**: 357-364

Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal Biochem **72**: 248-254

Bush DS (1995) Calcium regulation in plant cells and its role in signaling. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol **46:** 95-122

Cercos M, Gomex-Cadenas A, Ho THD (1999) Hormonal regulation of a cysteine proteinase gene, *EPB-1*, in barley aleurone layers: *cis-* and *trans-*acting elements involved in the co-ordinated gene expression regulated by gibberellins and abscisic acid. Plant J **19:** 107-118.

Chen W, Provart NJ, Glazebrook J, Katagiri F, Chang H-, Eulgem T, Mauch F, Luan S, Zou G, Whitham SA, Budworth PR, Tao Y, Xie Z, Chen X, Lam S, Kreps JA, Harper JF, Si-Ammour A, Mauch-Mani B, Heinlein M, Kobayashi K, Hohn T, Dangl JL, Wang X, Zhu T (2002) Expression profile matrix of Arabidopsis transcription factor gene suggests their putative functions in response to environmental stresses. Plant Cell 14: 559-574

Chen X, Chang M, Wang B, Wu R (1997) Cloning of a Ca²⁺-ATPase gene and the role of cytosolic Ca²⁺ in the gibberellin-dependent signaling pathway in aleurone cells. Plant J **11:** 363-371

Cheong YH, Chang HS, Gupta R, Wang X, Zhu T, Luan S (2002) Transcriptional profiling reveals novel interactions between wounding, pathogen, abiotic stress, and hormonal responses in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol **129:** 661-677

Chiasson D, Ekengren SK, Martin GB, Dobney SL, Snedden WA (2005) Calmodulinlike proteins from *Arabidopsis* and tomato are involved in host defense against *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato*. Plant Mol Biol **58**: 887-897 Chini A, Fonseca S, Fernandez G, Adie B, Chico JM, Lorenzo O, Garcia-Casado G, Lopez-Vidriero I, Lozano FM, Ponce MR, Micol JL, Solano R (2007) The JAZ family of repressors is the missing link in jasmonate signalling. Nature **448**: 666-U4

Chung HS, Koo AJK, Gao XL, Jayanty S, Thines B, Jones AD, Howe GA (2008) Regulation and function of Arabidopsis *JASMONATE ZIM*-domain genes in response to wounding and herbivory. Plant Physiol **146**: 952-964

Clapham DE (2007) Calcium signaling. Cell 131: 1047-1058

Clough SJ, Bent AF (1998) Floral dip: a simplified method for Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J **16**: 735-743

Crow RM, Gartland JS, McHugh AT, Gartland KMA (2006) Real-time GUS analysis using Q-PCR instrumentation. J Biotechnol **126**: 135-139

Curtis MD, Grossniklaus U (2003) A gateway cloning vector set for high-throughput functional analysis of genes in planta. Plant Physiol **133**: 462-469

Czechowski T, Bari RP, Stitt M, Scheible WR, Udvardi MK (2004) Real-time RT-PCR profiling of over 1400 *Arabidopsis* transcription factors: unprecedented sensitivity reveals novel root- and shoot-specific genes. Plant J **38**: 366-379

Davuluri RV, Sun H, Palaniswamy SK, Matthews N, Molina C, Kurtz M, Grotewold E (2003) AGRIS: Arabidopsis Gene Regulatory Information Server, an information resource of Arabidopsis cis-regulatory elements and transcription factors. BMC Bioinformatics 4: 25

Day IS, Reddy VS, Ali GS, Reddy ASN (2002) Analysis of EF-hand-containing proteins in *Arabidopsis*. Genome Biol **3:** 1-24

de Ruijter NCA, Verhees J, van Leeuwen W, van der Krol AR (2003) Evaluation and comparison of the GUS, LUC and GFP reporter system for gene expression studies in plants. Plant Biol **5:** 103-115

De Vos M, Van Oosten VR, Van Poecke RMP, Van Pelt JA, Pozo MJ, Mueller MJ, Buchala AJ, Metraux JP, Van Loon LC, Dicke M, Pieterse CMJ (2005) Signal signature and transcriptome changes of *Arabidopsis* during pathogen and insect attack. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact **18**: 923-937

Delessert C, Wilson I, Van Der Straeten D, Dennis E, Dolferus R (2004) Spatial and temporal analysis of the local response to wounding. Plant Mol Biol **55**: 165-181

Delk NA, Johnson KA, Chowdhury NI, Braam J (2005) *CML24*, regulated in expression by diverse stimuli, encodes a potential Ca²⁺ sensor that functions in response to abscisic acid, daylength, and ion stress. Plant Physiol **139**: 240-253

Després C, Subramaniam R, Matton DP, Brisson N (1995) The activation of the potato *PR-10a* gene requires the phosphorylation of the nuclear factor PBF-1. Plant Cell **7:** 589-598

Desveaux D, Allard J, Brisson N, Sygusch J (2002) A new family of plant transcription factors displays a novel ssDNA-binding surface. Nat Struct Biol **9:** 512-517

Desveaux D, Després C, Joyeaux A, Subramaniam R, Brisson N (2000) PBF-2 is a novel single-stranded DNA binding factor implicated in *PR-10a* gene activation in potato. Plant Cell **12:** 1477-1489

Dobney S, Chiasson D, Lam P, Smith SP, Snedden WA (2009) The calmodulin-related calcium sensor CML42 plays a role in trichome branching. J Biol Chem *in press*

Dong J, Chen C, Chen Z (2003) Expression profiles of the *Arabidopsis* WRKY gene superfamily during plant defense response. Plant Mol Biol **51**: 21-37

Du L, Poovaiah BW (2005) Ca²⁺/calmodulin is critical for brassinosteroid biosynthesis and plant growth. Nature **437:** 741-745

Du LQ, Ali GS, Simons KA, Hou JG, Yang TB, Reddy ASN, Poovaiah BW (2009) Ca2+/calmodulin regulates salicylic-acid-mediated plant immunity. Nature **457:** 1154-U116

Eulgem T (2005) Regulation of the *Arabidopsis* defense transcriptome. Trends Plant Sci **10:** 71-78

Eulgem T, Rushton PJ, Robatzek S, Somssich IE (2000) The WRKY superfamily of plant transcription factors. Trends Plant Sci **5:** 199-206

Eulgem T, Somssich IE (2007) Networks of WRKY transcription factors in defense signaling. Curr Opin Plant Biol **10:** 366-371

Fang RX, Nagy F, Sivasubramaniam S, Chua NH (1989) Multiple *cis* regulatory elements for maximal expression of the cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter in transgenic plants. Plant Cell **1:** 141-150

Finkler A, Kaplan B, Fromm H (2007) Ca²⁺-responsive *cis*-elements in plants. Plant Signal Behav **2:** 17-19

Galon Y, Nave R, Boyce JM, Nachmias D, Knight MR, Fromm H (2008) Calmodulinbinding transcription activator (CAMTA) 3 mediates biotic defense responses in *Arabidopsis*. FEBS Lett **582**: 943-948

Hahm SH, Saunders MJ (1991) Cytokinin increases intracellular Ca²⁺ in *Funaria*: Detection with indo-1. Cell Calcium **12:** 675-681

Heil M, Ton J (2008) Long-distance signalling in plant defence. Trends Plant Sci **13**: 264-272

Hepler PK (1997) Tip growth in pollen tubes: calcium leads the way. Trends Plant Sci **2:** 79-80

Higo K, Ugawa Y, Iwamoto M, Korenaga T (1999) Plant cis-acting regulatory DNA elements (PLACE) database:1999. Nucleic Acids Res **27:** 297-300

Howe GA, Jander G (2008) Plant immunity to insect herbivores. Annu Rev Plant Biol 59: 41-66

Jakoby M, Weisshaar B, Dröge-Laser W, Vicente-Carbajosa J, Tiedemann J, Kroj T, Parcy F (2002) bZIP transcription factors in *Arabidopsis*. Trends Plant Sci 7: 106-111

Jefferson RA, Kavanagh TA, Bevan MW (1987) GUS fusions: β-glucuronidase as a sensitive and versatile gene fusion marker in higher plants. EMBO J **6**: 3901-3907

Junker JP, Ziegler F, Rief M (2009) Ligand-dependent equilibrium fluctuations of single calmodulin molecules. Science **323**: 633-637

Kaplan B, Davydov O, Knight H, Galon Y, Knight MR, Fluhr R, Fromm H (2006) Rapid transcriptome changes induced by cytosolic Ca2+ transients reveal ABRE-related sequences as Ca2+-responsive cis elements in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell **18**: 2733-2748

Kessler A, Baldwin IT (2002) Plant responses to insect herbivory: the emerging molecular analysis. Annu Rev Plant Biol **53**: 299-328

Klok EJ, Wilson IW, Wilson D, Chapman SC, Ewing RM, Somerville SC, Peacock WJ, Dlferus R, Dennis ES (2002) Expression profile analysis of the low-oxygen response in Arabidopsis root cultures. Plant Cell 14: 2481-2494

Knight H, Knight MR (2001) Abiotic stress signalling pathways: specificity and crosstalk. Trends Plant Sci 6: 262-267

Knight MR, Campbell AK, Smith SM, Trewavas AJ (1991) Transgenic plant aequorin reports the effects of touch and cold-shock and elicitors on cytoplasmic calcium. Nature **352:** 524-526

Knight MR, Read ND, Campbell AK, Trewavas AJ (1993) Imaging calcium dynamics in living plants using semi-synthetic recombinant aequorins. J Cell Biol 121: 83-90

Korth KL, Dixon RA (1997) Evidence for chewing insect-specific molecular events distinct from a general wound response in leaves. Plant Physiol **115**: 1299-1305

Kushwaha R, Singh A, Chattopadhyay S (2008) Calmodulin7 plays an important role as transcriptional regulator in Arabidopsis seedling development. Plant Cell **20:** 1747-1759

Kuśnierczyk A, Winge P, Jørstad TS, Troczyńska J, Rossiter JT, Bones AM (2008) Towards global understanding of plant defence against aphids – timing and dynamics of early *Arabidopsis* defence responses to cabbage aphid (*Brevicoryne brassicae*) attack. Plant Cell Environ **31**: 1097-1115

Lecourieux D, Ranjeva R, Pugin A (2006) Calcium in plant defence-signalling pathways. New Phytol **171**: 249-269

León J, Rojo E, Sánchez-Serrano JJ (2001) Wound signalling in plants. J Exp Bot **52**: 1-9

León J, Rojo E, Titarenko E, Sánchez-Serrano JJ (1998) Jasmonic acid-dependent and -independent wound signal transduction pathways are differentially regulated by Ca²⁺/calmodulin in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol Gen Genet **258:** 412-419

Lescot M, Déhais P, Thijs G, Marchal K, Moreau Y, Van de Peer Y, Rouzé P, Rombauts S (2002) PlantCARE, a database of plant *cis*-acting regulatory elements and a portal to tools for *in silico* analysis of promoter sequences. Nucleic Acids Res **30**: 325-327

Liu JJ, Ekramoddoullah AKM, Piggott N, Zamani A (2005) Molecular cloning of a pathogen/wound-inducible PR10 promoter from *Pinus monticola* and characterization in transgenic *Arabidopsis* plants. Planta **221**: 159-169

Lü SY, Gu HY, Yuan XJ, Wang XM, Wu AM, Qu LJ, Liu JY (2007) The GUS reporter-aided analysis of the promoter activities of a rice metallothionein gene reveals different regulatory regions responsible for tissue-specific and inducible expression in transgenic Arabidopsis. Transgenic Res 16: 177-191

Ma W, Smigel A, Tsai YC, Braam J, Berkowitz GA (2008) Innate immunity signaling: cytosolic Ca^{2+} elevation is linked to downstream nitric oxide generation through the action of calmodulin or a calmodulin-like protein. Plant Physiol **418**: 818-828

Magnan F, Ranty B, Charpenteau M, Sotta B, Galaud JP, Aldon D (2008) Mutations in AtCML9, a calmodulin-like protein from *Arabidopsis thaliana*, alter plant responses to abiotic stress and abscisic acid. Plant J **56**: 575-589

Mason HS, DeWald DB, Mullet JE (1993) Identification of a methyl jasmonateresponsive domain in the soybean *vspB* promoter. Plant Cell **5**: 241-251 **Matton DP, Prescott G, Bertrand C, Camirand A, Brisson N** (1993) Identification of *cis*-acting elements in the regulation of the pathogenesis-related gene STH-2 in potato. Plant Mol Biol **22**: 279-291

McAinsh MR, Pittman JK (2009) Shaping the calcium signature. New Phytol 181: 275-294

McCormack E, Braam J (2003) Calmodulins and related potential calcium sensors of Arabidopsis. New Phytol **159**: 585-598

McCormack E, Tsai YC, Braam J (2005) Handling calcium signaling: *Arabidopsis* CaMs and CMLs. Trends Plant Sci **10**: 383-389

Meindl T, Boller T, Felix G (1998) The plant wound hormone systemin binds with the N-terminal part to its receptor but needs the C-terminal part to activate it. Plant Cell **10**: 1561-1570

Miao Y, Laun T, Smykowski A, Zentgraf U (2007) *Arabidopsis* MEKK1 can take a short cut: it can directly interact with senescence-related WRKY53 transcription factor on the protein level and can bind to its promoter. Plant Mol Biol **65**: 63-76

Miao Y, Smykowski A, Zentgraf U (2008) A novel upstream regulator of *WRKY53* transcription during leaf senescence in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Biol **10**: 110-120

Moyen C, Hammond-Kosack KE, Jones J, Knight MR, Johannes E (1998) Systemin triggers and increase of cytoplasmic calcium in tomato mesophyll cells: Ca²⁺ mobilization from intra- and extracellular compartments. Plant Cell Environ **21:** 1101-1111

Murashige T, Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiol plant **15:** 473-497

Nakagawa T, Kurose T, Hinoa T, Tanaka K, Kawamukai M, Niwa Y, Toyooka K, Matsuoka K, Jinbo T, Kimura T (2007) Development of series of gateway binary vectors, pGWBs, for realizing efficient construction of fusion genes for plant transformation. J Biosci Bioeng **104:** 34-41

Nayyar H (2003) Calcium as environmental sensor in plants. Curr Sci 84: 893-902

Nishiuchi T, Shinshi H, Suzuki K (2004) Rapid and transient activation of transcription of the ERF3 gene by wounding in tobacco leaves - Possible involvement of NtWRKYs and autorepression. J Biol Chem **279**: 55355-55361

Nishiuchi T, Suzuki K, Kitajima S, Sato F, Shinshi H (2002) Wounding activates immediate early transcription of genes for ERFs in tobacco plants. Plant Mol Biol **49**: 473-482

Obayashi T, Hayashi S, Saeki M, Ohta H, Kinoshita K (2009) ATTED-II provides coexpressed gene networks for Arabidopsis. Nucleic Acids Res **37**: D987-D991

O'Connor TR, Dyreson C, Wyrick JJ (2005) Athena: a resource for rapid visualization and systematic analysis of *Arabidopsis* promoter sequences. Bioinformatics **21:** 4411-4413

Popescu SC, Popescu GV, Bachan S, Zhang Z, Seay M, Gerstein M, Snyder M, Dinesh-Kumar SP (2007) Differential binding of calmodulin-related proteins to their targets revealed through high-density *Arabidopsis* protein microarrays. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **104:** 4730-4735

Puzio PS, Lausen J, Heinen P, Grundler FMW (2000) Promoter analysis of *pyk20*, a gene from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Sci **157:** 245-255

Qu LJ, Zhu YX (2006) Transcription factor families in *Arabidopsis*: major progress and outstanding issues for future research. Curr Opin Plant Biol **9**: 544-549

Reddy ASN (2001) Calcium: silver bullet in signaling. Plant Sci 160: 381-404

Reddy VS, Ali SG, Reddy ASN (2002) Genes encoding calmodulin-binding proteins in the *Arabidopsis* genome. J Biol Chem 277: 9840-9852

Reymond P, Weber H, Damond M, Farmer EE (2000) Differential gene expression in response to mechanical wounding and insect feeding in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell **12**: 707-719

Rouster J, Leah R, Mundy J, Cameron-Mills V (1997) Identification of a methyl jasmonate-responsive region in the promoter of a lipoxygenase 1 gene expressed in barley grain. Plant J **11:** 513-523

Rushton PJ, Somssich IE (1998) Transcriptional control of plant genes responsive to pathogens. Curr Opin Plant Biol 1: 311-315

Sanders D, Pelloux J, Brownlee C, Harper JF (2002) Calcium at the crossroads of signaling. Plant Cell 14: 401-417

Santamaria M, Thomson CJ, Read ND, Loake GJ (2001) The promoter of a basic PR1-like gene, AtPRB1, from Arabidopsis establishes an organ-specific expression pattern and responsiveness to ethylene and methyl jasmonate. Plant Mol Biol **47**: 641-652

Sasaki K, Hiraga S, Ito H, Seo S, Matsui H, Ohashi Y (2002) A wound-inducible tobacco peroxidase gene expresses preferentially in the vascular system. Plant and Cell Physiology **43**: 108-117

Sasaki K, Ito H, Mitsuhara I, Hiraga S, Seo S, Matsui H, Ohashi Y (2006) A novel wound-responsive cis-element, VWRE, of the vascular system-specific expression of a tobacco peroxidase gene, *tpoxN1*. Plant Mol Biol **62**: 753-768

Sasaki K, Mitsuhara I, Seo S, Ito H, Matsui H, Ohashi Y (2007) Two novel AP2/ERF domain proteins interact with *cis*-element VWRE for wound-induced expression of the Tobacco *tpoxN1* gene. Plant J **50**: 1079-1092

Schmelz EA, Carroll MJ, LeClere S, Phipps SM, Meredith J, Chourey PS, Alborn HT, Teal PEA (2006) Fragments of ATP synthase mediate plant perception of insect attack. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 8894-8899

Schmelz EA, Engelberth J, Alborn HT, Tumlinson JH, Teal PEA (2009) Phytohormone-based activity mapping of insect herbivore-produced elicitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 653-657

Scrase-Field SAMG, Knight MR (2003) Calcium: just a chemical switch? Curr Opin Plant Biol 6: 500-506

Shao HB, Chu LY, Shao MA, Li SQ, Yao JC (2008) Bioengineering plant resistance to abiotic stresses by the global calcium signal system. Biotechnol Adv 26: 503-510

Siebertz B, Logemann J, Willmitzer L, Schell J (1989) *cis*-analysis of the woundinducible promoter *wun1* in transgenic tobacco plants and histochemical localization of its expression. Plant Cell 1: 961-968

Singh KB, Foley RC, Oñate-Sánchez L (2002) Transcription factor families in plant defense and stress responses. Curr Opin Plant Biol **5:** 430-436

Snedden WA, Fromm H (2001) Calmodulin as a versatile calcium signal transducer in plants. New Phytol **151:** 35-66

Snedden WA, Fromm H (1998) Calmodulin, calmodulin-related proteins and plant responses to the environment. Trends Plant Sci **3:** 299-304

Song WY, Zhang ZB, Shao HB, Guo XL, Cao HX, Zhao HB, Fu ZY, Hu XJ (2008) Relationship between calcium decoding elements and plant abiotic-stress resistance. Int J Biol Sci **4:** 116-125

Suzuki K, Suzuki N, Ohme-Takagi M, Shinshi H (1998) Immediate early induction of mRNAs for ethylene-responsive transcription factors in tobacco leaf strips after cutting. Plant J 15: 657-665

Thines B, Katsir L, Melotto M, Niu Y, Mandaokar A, Liu GH, Nomura K, He SY, Howe GA, Browse J (2007) JAZ repressor proteins are targets of the SCF^{CO11} complex during jasmonate signalling. Nature **448**: 661-U2

Tittarelli A, Milla L, Vargas F, Morales A, Neupert C, Meisel LA, Salvo-G H, Peñaloza E, Muñoz G, Corcuera LJ, Silva H (2007) Isolation and comparative analysis of the wheat *TaTP2* promoter: identification *in silico* of new putative regulatory motifs conserved between monocots and dicots. J Exp Bot **58**: 2582

Toufighi K, Brady SM, Austin R, Ly E, Provart NJ (2005) The botany array resource: e-northerns, expression angling, and promoter analyses. Plant J **43**: 153-163

Trewavas AJ, Malhó R (1997) Signal perception and transduction: the origin of the phenotype. Plant Cell **9:** 1181-1195

Tsai YC, Delk NA, Chowdhury NI, Braam J (2007) Arabidopsis potential calcium sensors regulate nitric oxide levels and the transition to flowering. Plant Signal Behav **2:** 446-454

Van Poecke RMP (2007) Arabidopsis-insect interactions. The Arabidopsis Book. American Society of Plant Biologists, Rockville, MD

Vanderbeld B (2007) Characterization of a subfamily of developmentally-regulated and stress-responsive calmodulin-like proteins in *Arabidopsis*. PhD thesis. Queen's University, Kingston, ON

Vanderbeld B, Snedden WA (2007) Developmental and stimulus-induced expression patterns of Arabidopsis calmodulin-like genes *CML37*, *CML38* and *CML39*. Plant Mol Biol 64: 683-697

Vignutelli A, Wasternack C, Apel K, Bohlmann H (1998) Systemic and local induction of an Arabidopsis thionin gene by wounding and pathogens. Plant Journal **14:** 285-295

Walley JW, Coughlan S, Hudson ME, Covington MF, Kaspi R, Banu G, Harmer SL, Dehesh K (2007) Mechanical stress induces biotic and abiotic stress responses via a novel *cis*-element. PLoS Genet **3**: 1800-1812

Wang Z, Cao G, Wang X, Miao J, Liu X, Chen Z, Qu LJ, Gu H (2008) Identification and characterization of COI1-dependent transcription factor genes involved in JAmediated response to wounding in *Arabidopsis* plants. Plant Cell Rep **27**: 125-135

White PJ, Broadley MR (2003) Calcium in Plants. Ann Bot 92: 487-511

Yang Y, Li R, Qi M (2000) *In vivo* analysis of plant promoters and transcription factors by agroinfiltration of tobacco leaves. Plant J 22: 543-551

Yang T, Poovaiah BW (2003) Calcium/calmodulin-mediated signal network in plants. Trends Plant Sci **8:** 505-512 **Yang T, Poovaiah BW** (2000) Molecular and biochemical evidence for the involvement of calcium/calmodulin in auxin action. J Biol Chem **275:** 3137-3143

Zielinski RE (1998) Calmodulin and calmodulin-binding proteins in plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol **49:** 697-725

APPENDIX 1: Maps of vectors used in this study



Figure A1.1. Vector map of pBI101 vector. RB = right border, LB = left border, *NPTII* = confers resistance to kanamycin



Figure A1.2. Vector map of pMDC163 vector.

RB = right border, LB = left border, CMr = chloramphenicol-resistance marker, ccdB = negative selection marker used in bacteria, attR1 and attR2 = recombination sites used by LR-Clonase II (Invitrogen)



Figure A1.3. Vector map of pGWB203 vector.

 \overline{RB} = right border, LB = left border, Cm^r = chloramphenicol-resistance marker, ccdB = negative selection marker used in bacteria, attR1 and attR2 = recombination sites used by LR-Clonase II (Invitrogen), NosP = Nos promoter, NPTII = confers resistance to kanamycin in bacteria, HPT = confers resistance to hygromycin in plants.

APPENDIX 2: Creation of 5' deletion constructs not analyzed in this study

All primers used for the creation of constructs are shown in Table A2.1.

CML37

In addition to the -1919[^] and -656[^] constructs created in the pBI101 vector, two more constructs were made that had lengths 1598 bp and 1114 bp. These constructs were transformed into agrobacterium and stored as glycerol stocks.

Many other constructs were made in the pMDC163 vector. These constructs had lengths of 408 bp, 370 bp, 321 bp, and 270 bp. These constructs were transformed into plants, but abandoned at the T1 stage when the problems with the pMDC163 vector became apparent. There are also agrobacterium glycerol stocks of these constructs.

CML38

In addition to the full-length *CML38* promoter construct, *pBI101:CML38* was digested with either XbaI or SaII, which resulted in *pBI101::CML38* deletion constructs that were 1067 bp and 1007 bp, respectively. These constructs are available as T3 plants, though only 1-2 lines of each construct are available. Agrobacterium glycerol stocks are also in storage. Another construct of length 715 bp was also created in the pBI101 vector. This construct is stored as an agrobacterium glycerol stock.

Constructs of length 1438 bp, 715 bp, 512 bp, 464 bp, 324 bp, 283 bp, 216 bp, 186 bp, and 127 bp are in the pCR8 entry vector and are ready to be cloned into pGWB203. These constructs are stored as glycerol stocks.

CML37 PRO RtcccccgggttcttgatttgatttgaatatgaatctagaagattCML37 PRO F11919 bpcgggatccagaagagggagtaggttagctapBI101*, pGWB203*CML37 PRO F21598 bpcaccggatccgactatggagtatgagtcggpBI101CML37 PRO F31114 bpcaccggatccggtggtgatgtgcaatagtggpBI101CML37 PRO F31114 bpcaccggatcggtggtgatgtgcaatagtggpBI101CML37 PRO F4656 bpaagcttttacatgaagttggcpGWB203*CML37 PRO F5571 bpcacctggaaagggaattcaggaccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F5571 bpcacctggaaagggaattcaggaccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F4474 bpcaccggatcctataccacttggtggcpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaccaagaccaaaaccacgtgccpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagtcaaagagagagttgcpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacattcaccacttggggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F13164 bpcacctaattcaacacttcpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML38 PRO RcccggggagagaaaaataaatggttagtgggatcctttttagtctttttatgtctttttatgtcpGWB203*CML38 PRO F11438 bpcccggggagagaaaaataaatggttagtgpGWB203*CML38 PRO F11438 bpcaccaaaattacttttagtctttttatgtcpBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccaaaattatcaacccgpBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccaaaattatcaaccgpBI101*
CML37 PRO F11919 bpcgggatccagaagagggagaggggagggggggggggggg
CML37 PRO F21598 bpcaccggatccgattcgattggattgggtgggtgggtgggggggg
CML37 PRO F31114 bpcaccggatccgtggtgatgtgcaatagtggpBI101CML37 PRO FH656 bpaagettttacatgaagttggcpGWB203*CML37 PRO F8614 bpaaaataaactetettttggteepGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F5571 bpcacetggaaagggaattcaggacepGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F9539 bpgttagatgaaactteatcacatgcaceggatccteataccacttegtgggageCML37 PRO F4474 bpcaceggatccteataccacttegtggagepGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaceagaaccaaaaccacgtgteepGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagtcaaagagaaggtttgepGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacattteacacatacgpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacecetagtegtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F13164 bpcacecaaaaacacccgpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML38 PRO RcccggggaggaaaaaataaatggttaagtgggatcecttetttagtectttttattetagepGWB203*CML38 PRO F11438 bpggatcecttetttagtectttttattetagepBI101*CML38 PRO F11438 bpggatcecttetttagtectttttattetagepBI101*CML38 PRO F11438 bpggatcecttetttagtettttattetagetpBI101*
CML37 PRO FH656 bpaagcttttacatgaagtggcpGWB203*CML37 PRO F8614 bpaaaataaactcttttggtccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F5571 bpcacctggaaagggaattcaggaccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F9539 bpgttagatgaaactcatcacaatgcaccaggatcctcataccactgCML37 PRO F4474 bpcaccggatcctcataccacttcgtggagcpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F4474 bpcaccaggatcacaaaccacgtgccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaccaagaccaaaaccacgtgccpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagtcaaagagaaggtttgcpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacatttcacacatacgpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctattgcggaggaaaattcaaccgpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML38 PRO F11438 bpcaccaaaatattcaaaccgpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML38 PRO F11438 bpggatccttctttagtcctttttaatgcpBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccaggatcatttttttattatgcpBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccagatcattttatttatagtcaggatcaggatcaggatcaggattacggatcaggatcaggatcaggattacggatcaggattacggattacggatcaggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggattacggatta
CML37 PRO F8614 bpaaataaactetettttggteeCML37 PRO F5571 bpcacetggaaagggaatteaggaeepGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F9539 bpgttagatgaaacteateacatgcaceggateeteateacatgCML37 PRO F4474 bpcaceggateeteataceacttegtggagepGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaceaggaecaaaaceacgtgteepGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaceaggaecaaaaceacgtgteepGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagteaaagagaaggtttgepGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgaeateacaatteaeaatteaeatteggggggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacecetagtegtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcaceteattgeggaggaaaatteaagegpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaceaaaatatteaaacegpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML38 PRO RcccggggaggaaaaataaatggttaagtgggateecttetttagteetttttatgeepBI101*CML38 PRO F11438 bpggateettettttagtetetttttatgeepBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaceagatteettttttttatgeepBI101*
CML37 PRO F5571 bpcacctggaaaggaattcaggaccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F9539 bpgttagatgaaacttcatcacatgpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F4474 bpcaccggatcctcataccactttcgtggagcpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaccaagaccaaaaccacgtgtccpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagtcaaagagaaggtttgcpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacatttcacacaatacgpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctattgcggaggaaaacttccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaaccgpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML38 PRO RcccggggaggagaaaataaatggttaagtgggatccttcttttagtcctttttatgccpGWB203*CML38 PRO F11438 bpggatccttcttttagtctttttatagcpBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccagatcaattttatttatagtcagtgpBI101*
CML37 PRO F9539 bpgttagatgaaacttcatcacatgpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F4474 bpcaccggatcctcataccacttcgtggagcpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaccaagaccaaaaccacgtgtccpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagtcaaagagaaggtttgcpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacatttcacacaatacgpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctcattgcggaggagaaacttccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaaccgpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML38 PRO RcccggggaggagaaaataaatggttaagtgggatcccttctttagtcctttttaatgcpBI101*CML38 PRO F11438 bpggatccttcttttagtcctttttatgccpBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpgaaacactttttatttatagtcatagtgpBI101*
CML37 PRO F4474 bpcaccggatcctcataccactttcgtggagcpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaccaagaccaaaaccacgtgtccpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagtcaaagagaaggtttgcpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacatttcacacaatacgpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacaccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctcattgcggaggaaacttccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaacccgpGWB203*CML38 PRO RcccggggaggagaaaataaatggttaagtgggatccttctttagtctttttatagtcpBI101*CML38 PRO F11438 bpggatccttcttttagtctttttatagtcpBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bppacaggatcattttatttatagtcatagtgpBI101*
CML37 PRO F6408 bpcaccaagaccaaaaccacgtgtccpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagtcaaagagaaggtttgcpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacattcacacaatacgpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctcattgcggaggaaacttccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaacccgpGWB203*CML38 PRO RcccggggagagaaaaataaatggttaagtgCML38 PRO F11438 bpggatcc <ttcttttagtctttttaatgc< td="">pBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccagagatacatttaataggttaagtgpBI101*</ttcttttagtctttttaatgc<>
CML37 PRO F10370 bpcaaagtcaaagagaggtttgcpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacatttcacacaatacgpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctcattgcggaggaaacttccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaaccgpGWB203*CML38 PRO RcccggggaggagaaaaataaatggttaagtgggatccCML38 PRO F11438 bpggatccggatccCML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccaggagaaaaataaatggttaagtgpBI101*PBI101215 bpcaccaggagagaaaataaatgattaagtgpBI101*
CML37 PRO F11321 bpgacatcacatttcacacaatacgpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctcattgcggaggaaacttccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaacccgpGWB203*CML38 PRO RccccggggagagaaaaataaatggttaagtgcML38 PRO F11438 bpCML38 PRO F11438 bpggatcc <tttttagtctttttagtctttttaatgc< td="">pBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccagggagagaaaataaatggttaagtgpBI101*</tttttagtctttttagtctttttaatgc<>
CML37 PRO F12270 bpgaaaacacccctagtcgtggpGWB203*, pMDC163CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctcattgcggaggaaacttccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaacccgpGWB203*CML38 PRO RcccggggagagaaaaataaatggttaagtgcCML38 PRO F11438 bpCML38 PRO F11438 bpggatcccttctttagtcctttttagtcttttaatgcpBI101*CML38 PRO F2715 bpcaccaggagagaaaataaatggttaagtgpBI101*
CML37 PRO F7224 bpcacctcattgcggaggaaacttccpGWB203*, pMDC163*CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaacccgpGWB203*CML38 PRO RcccggggaggagaaaaataaatggttaagtgcML38 PRO F1CML38 PRO F11438 bpggatcccttctttagtctcttttaatgcpBI101*CML 38 PRO F2715 bpcaccaggagagaaaataaatggttaagtgpBI101*
CML37 PRO F13164 bpcaccaaaatattcaaacccgpGWB203*CML38 PRO RcccggggagagaaaaataaatggttaagtgCML38 PRO F11438 bpggatccctcttttagtetcttttaatgcCML38 PRO F2715 bpcmu 38 PRO F2715 bp
CML38 PRO RcccggggagagaaaaataaatggttaagtgCML38 PRO F11438 bpggatccggatcccML38 PRO F2715 bpcmL38 PRO F2715 bp
CML38 PRO F1 1438 bp <u>ggatcc</u> ttcttttagtcctttttagtccttttagtccttgg CML38 PRO F2 715 bp <u>ggatcc</u> ttcttttagtcctttttagtcctgg pBI101*
CMI 32 DDO F2 715 bp accordition to the transfer and the philos
$-\nabla W \Gamma_{2} O \Gamma \nabla \Gamma Z = -\Gamma T T D D C C C C S S C C C C C C C C C C C C$
CML38 PRO F4 650 bp aaagegtaaatcatacctctc
CML38 PRO F5 512 bp ctatgtgtgccttggtttgc
CML38 PRO F6 464 bp gatattegtacacatagteaaac
CML38 PRO F3 324 bp caccggateccaaatacaagtggccggtcc pMDC163*
CML38 PRO F7 283 bp ccattaaaaaggaagaagaaggaggaggg
CML38 PRO F8 216 bp ctaaacactaatctaccacg
CML38 PRO F9 186 bp acacacacacacacacacattgatc
CML38 PRO F10 127 bp taccacaacttgaccacacg
CMI 39 PRO R ggatcetttgagaagaagattgtatttg
CML39 PRO F1 941 hn aagettateaatetaetaetaetaetaetaetaetaetaetae
CML39 PRO F2 599 hp caccaagettecteatettteggttgtagg pB101, pGWB203
CML39 PRO F4 525 hp agecataacaaotttgagge nGWB203
CML39 PRO F5 442 hn aatgattagtagatgagttagc nGWB203
CML39 PRO F6 356 bp atcettettectatatttaavae pGWB203
CML39 PRO F3 301 hp caccaagettatggggatgagatatgtagggatgagatatgtaacg nRI101* nGWR203
CML39 PRO F7 235 bp aataatactacttettetagate
CML39 PRO F8 175 bp gaatetcacacetttgattcg
CML39 PRO F9 138 bp cttattactattctcgacttg

Table A2.1. Sequences of oligonucleotides used throughout this study.

Asterisks denote constructs that were analyzed in this study.

CML39

In additions to the -941[^] and -301[^] constructs created in the pBI101 vector, another construct, length 599 bp was created. Transformations into plants yielded no transformants. Agrobacterium glycerol stocks are available.

Constructs of lengths 941 bp, 599 bp, 525 bp, 442 bp, 356 bp and 301 bp were created in the pGWB203 vector. These constructs have all been transformed into plants and are at the T1-T3 stage. These constructs are ready for GUS analyses.

APPENDIX 3: Sequences of promoters and exact locations of cis-elements

(A)

AGAAGAGGGAGATGAGGTTAGCTACGTTTATTGTCTTCTCCTGCTTCCTGATTTTTATTTGTTAAACTCTTTTTATATGAGT ATATTAATGTTTCTTTTCTTTTTAATACAAACTATATATTTTAATTCCAAAATCAAACCTTCTATTTGTAGCAAAGGGTT TGAAGTCAAAAATCTCAATATTTTGGAAAGATTTTCACCCAGAAGTTTTAACCGGTTGATCATGCGGTAGTTAATGGCAAG TTTTTTCTGGATTTTTCTGGTTATATTGGTAGATTTAAGACTAAACCTTCACTGGAAATATGTTTCTTGGGTTAATCGTT CGACTATGGAGTATGAGTCGGACATGAAAACATTGTTTATCTGCTGGCAACTTTGAACTGATCGGTTCAATTAGGTTTAG AAAATTATAATTTTTAAAAAAAATGATCGAAAAGTTAATAATTTTATGCATTCATATATTTGCTTATGTTAAGTGTTACA TGACCCCTAAATTTTTAAAGGATTCATGCCTAATTATAAGAATATTGATTTCGATAGTTAGAAGAAAAGCTATTTGTATG ATATTAAGTTAATGTTTAGATTCTGTTATTTTGGTTTAATCATTTGAATGTGATTAGCTTTCGTCAGATAATGTGT GTTTTGTGGTGATGTGCAATAGTGGTTACAAGATCGATTGTTTAGGATTTCAAGTGTTTGTCACTCTAAACTAGGCTTTC TATACTATTTCACTTTGGCGATCATGAGTTTTTCATAGTAAGTTAATTTGTGAGATTTGATACCAACAATTTAAACTAT GAATTGAAGATATAGATTAAAGTCTAACATTTTGTTGATATTAGGATCAAATTAAGTATTTATAAGGAGATTTTATGGGG GGAAACAGAGATGTTTTTGTTAAATAATCTTTGAGCTCGATAATTACGGGGAGAAGTTTCAAAGAATAACTGAATTGTTT GAACAATATATGCTGGGCCGAGTTAAAACCGTCGAGCTTAGAAAGCCGAACTATACATCAGTAAAAGCTTTTACATGAAGT TGGCATTTGAGATGCAAAAAGATAAAAATAAAACTCTCTTTTGGTCCATATAGAAATATATTTTCTTATGGAAAGGGAAT TCAGGACCGGGAATGTAACAGTTAGATGAAAACTTCATCACATGAAATATTTTAATTTTAATTCAAGTTTCTAGGAACAGA GGAAGTCATACCACTTTCGTGGAGCATATCTGGACGGTTATATGAAACTTCATGACAGTTTAACAATTTAAAAAGACCAAA ACCACGTGTCCGCACATCGTATACTCAAAGTCAAAGAGAAGGTTTGCTACTTTTCTTAATCTAGTCGTCGATATGA CATCACATTTCACACAATACGTGAGAAAAACTTACCATCACATTATTACGAAAACACCCCTAGTCGTGGTCAACTTGACC TTTCCCCACAAACACTCATTGCGGAGGAAACTTCCCGGCCACCGCCGCGCAACCGCCTCTAGCTTTAAATAATAACACCA AAATATTCAAACCCGTGTTTTAACCGTCGAACAATCAAGAATCTCCCCCCATTACACGCATTCACATACTCATCTATAT ATAATCTACCACTTCTTGAAAAGAATTTGCATCAGAAATCCATTTCCCAAATCTTCTAGATTCATATTCAAATCAAGAA

(B)

CTTCTTTAGTCTCTTTTTAATGCATTTGTTAACAACAACTTAAGATGTTAGATTGGAGAACTTGTGAATGTTGTTAATTC TTGATTTTTCTATATCAACACTAAAGTTTTACATTATGTTTTATGTATTAGTTGTGTCTACATTGACATGTCTAGT AATGTGTTTATCTCCAAACAAAACAAATTCAATTCTTGTATTTTAATCAAACTATTTGCAAATGGTAAACGTCAATTAAT TCGCCTTTATAATTTAATGGAAGATTACTTTTAAAAAGATGCAAGTTATTAGAATCAAAATAAAAACAAAGACAAAATAT GTTAACTTGTAGAAAACACTTGGAAGTAAAAATCTGATGAGTTTCTCGTTCTCTAGAATATTGCTGGACCGGATTAGGTC AATATTATTGGGCCAGATTAGATATTGAATTGTCGACGTTGCTTACGTTACGTTATATCTTGTTTAAGAATTAAACCTAT CGACTTAGTCTTAATTAAGAAAACATTGCCTTAAATTCTCTGGGCCGACCGTTTTTTTGACCGTTAACCCCTAATTAA AGAAACAAAATAATTATAGAAAGAGCACTGAAATGTGATTATTTTAACAGTACTCTTATGAGAAAAATTCGTACTTTTTAG TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTACAAATCTCTAAGAAAAACACTACTACTAATTAAGAAACGTTTCAAAACAATTTTATTTTCGTTGGCTC ATACCTCTCAAATAAAAACTTGAATTTGGAAACAAAGACAACTAAAAAACTCGAATTTAAGAGAATTCCTAAAAATCAAGT GAAGTATCATCACTTGGTAAAAATTTCATAACCGTTGGCTTCTATTTCTATGTGTGCCTTGGTTTGCAGGAGATAATATTT AGAGAGAGAGATAGATAAGACGAAGGAAGTGAAGCTTCCAAGCGCCCACCGTTAAAAATCTCGTGTGCAAGTTTCAAATA CAAGTGGCCGGTGGTCTCCATAATTTGATCGTCATCCAATTAAAAAGGAAGAAAAGCGTGTTTTATACAAGAAAACTCA

(C)

Figure A3.1. Sequences of (A) CML37, (B) CML38, and (C) CML39 promoters.

(A)

AGAAGAGGGAGATGAGGTTAGCTACGTTTATTGTCTTCTCCTCCTGATTTTTATTTGTTAAACTCTTTTTATATGAGT ATATTAATGTTTCTTTCTTTTTTAATACAAACTATATATTTTAATTCCAAAATCAAACCTTCTATTTGTAGCAAAGGGTT TGA<mark>AGTCAAA</mark>ATCTCAATATTTTGGAAAGATTTTCACCCAGAAGTTTTAACCGGTTGATCATGCGGTAGTTAATGGCAAG TTTTTTCTGGATTTTCTGGTTATATTGGTAGATTTAAGACTAAACCTTCACTGGAAATATGTTTCTTGGGTTAATCGTT ${\tt CGACTATGGAGTATGAGTCGGACATGAAAACATTGTTTATCTGCTGGCAACTTTGAACTGATCGGTTCAATTAGGTTTAG$ AAAATTATAATTTTTTAAAAAAATGATCGAAAAGTTAATAATTTTATGCATTCATATATTTGCTTATGTTAAGTGTTACA TGACCCCTAAATTTTTAAAGGATTCATGCCTAATTATAAGAATATTGATTTCGATAGTTAGAAGAAAAGCTATTTGTATG ATATTAAGTTAATTAATGTTTAGATTCTGTTATTTTGGTTTAATCATTTGAATGTGATTAGCTTTC<mark>GTCA</mark>GATAATGTGT GTTTTGTGGTGATGTGCAATAGTGGTTACAAGATCGATTGTTTAGGATTTCAAGTGTTT<mark>GTCA</mark>CTCTAAACTAGGCTTTC TATACTATTTTCACTTTGGCGATCATGAGTTTTTCATAGTAAGTTTATTTGTGAGATTTGATACCAACAATTTAAACTAT GAATTGAAGATATAGATTAAAGTCTAACATTTTGTTGATATTAGGATCAAATTAAGTATTTATAAGGAGATTTTATGGGG GGAAACAGAGATGTTTTTGTTAAATAATCTTTGAGCTCGATAATTACGGGGAGAAGTTTCAAAGAATAACTGAATTGTTT GAACAATATATGCTGGGCCGAGTTAAAACCGTCGAGCTTAGAAAGCCGAACTATACATCAGTAAAAGCTTTTACATGAAGT TGGCATTTGAGATGCAAAAAGATAAAAATAAAACTCTCTTTTGGTCCATATAGAAATATATTTTCTTATGGAAAGGGAAT TCAGGACCGGGAATGTAACAGTTAGATGAAAACTTCATCACATGAAATATTTTAATTTCAAGTTTCTAGGAACAGA GGA<mark>AGTCA</mark>TACCACTTTCGTGGAGCATATCTGGACGGTTATATGAAACTTCA<mark>TGAC</mark>AGTTTAACAATTTAAAAGACCAAA <mark>C</mark>ATCACATTTCACACAATACGTGAGAAAAACTTACCATCACA<mark>TTATTACGAA</mark>AACACCCCTAGTCGT<mark>GGTCAA</mark>C<mark>TTGACC</mark> TTTCCCCACAAACACTCATTGCGGAGGAAACTTCCCGGCCACCGCCGCGCAACCGCCTCTAGCTTTAAATAATAACACCA AAATATTCAAACCCGTGTTTTAACCGTCGAACAATCAAGAATCTCTCCACCATTACACGCATTCACATACTCATCTATAT ATAATCTACCACTTCTTGAAAAGAATTTGCATCAGAAATCCATTTCCCAAATCTTCTAGATTCATATTCAAATCAAGAA

(B)

CTTCTTTAGTCTCTTTTTAATGCATTTGTTAACAACAACTTAAGATGTTAGATTGGAGAACTTGTGAATGTTGTTAATTC TTGATTTTTCTATATCAACACTAAAGTTTTACATTATGTTTTATGTATTATTAGTTGTGTCTACA<mark>TTGAC</mark>ATGTTCTAGT AATGTGTTTATCTCCAAACAAAACAAATTCAATTCTTGTATTTTAATCAAACTATTTGCAAATGGTAAAC<mark>GTCA</mark>ATTAAT TCGCCTTTATAATTTAATGGAAGATTACTTTTAAAAAGATGCAAGTTATTAGAATCAAAATAAAAACAAAGACAAAATAT GTTAACTTGTAGAAAACACTTGGAAGTAAAAATCTGATGAGTTTCTCGTTCTCTAGAATATTGCTGGACCGGATTAGGTC AATATTATTGGGCCAGATTAGATATTGAATTGTCGACGTTGCTTACGTTACGTTATATCTTGTTTAAGAATTAAACCTAT CGACTTAGTCTTAATTAAGAAAACATTGCCTTAAATTCTCTGGGTCTGCGACCGTTTTT<mark>TTGACC</mark>GTTAACCCCTAATTAA AGAAACAAAATAATTATAGAAAGAGCACTGAAATGTGATTATTTTAACAGTACTCTTATGAGAAAATTCGTACTTTTTAG TTTTTTTTTGTACAAATCTCTAAGAAAAACACTACTACTAATTAAGAAACGTTTCAAACAATTTTATTTTCGTTGGCTC ATACCTCTCAAATAAAAACTTGAATTTGGAAACAAAGACAACTAAAAAACTCGAATTTAAGAGAATTCCTAAAATCAAGT GAAGTATCATCACTTGGTAAAAATTTCATAACCGTTGGCTTCTATTTCTATGTGTGCCTTGGTTTGCAGGAGATAATATTT CATTTCCAACCAATGATATTCGTACACAT<mark>AGTCAA</mark>ACAAATGTTTGTCTTTGTTATTATATTGAGAAAGAAACAAGAAAG AGAGAGAGAGATAGATAAGACGAAGGAAGTGAAGCTTCCAAGCGCCCACCGTTAAAAATCTCGTGTGCAAGTTTCAAATA CAAGTGGCCGGTGGTCTCCATAATTTGATCGTCATCCAATTAAAAAGGAAGAAAAAGCGTGTTTTATACAAGAAAACTCA TTTTCAAGATTCAAGAAAATACCCATTCCATTACCACAAC<mark>TTGACC</mark>ACACGCCTATATATAAAAACATAAAAGCCCTTTCC

(C)

Figure A3.2. Locations of wound-responsive *cis*-elements within the promoters of (A) *CML37*, (B) *CML38*, and (C) *CML39*.

Yellow boxes represent WRKY binding sites on the + strand; red boxes represent WRKY binding sites on the - strand; pink box represents a WUN element on the + strand.

(A)

AGAAGAGGGAGATGAGGTTAGCTACGTTTATTGTCTTCTCCTCCTGATTTTTATTGTTAAACTCTTTTTATATGAGT ATATTAATGTTTCTTTCTTTTTTAATACAAACTATATATTTTAATTCCAAAATCAAACCTTCTATTTGTAGCAAAGGGTT TGAAGTCAAAAATCTCAATATTTTGGAAAGATTTTCACCCAGAAGTTTTAAC<mark>CGGTTG</mark>ATCATGC<mark>GGTAGTT</mark>AATGGCAAG TTTTTTCTGGATTTTTCTGGTTAFATTGGTAGATTTAAGACTAAACCTTCACTGGAAATATGTTTCTTGGGTTAATCGTT CGACTATGGAGTATGAGTCGGACATGAAAACATTGTTTATCTGCTGGCAACTTTGAACTGATCGGTTCAA<mark>TTAGGTT</mark>TAG GTATTT<mark>CGGTTA</mark>AGGGCTTAGATAGCAATCTAAAAAAAAATTGATGTAATTTTGTGAAATT<mark>TGGTTT</mark>AAATACGTTGCG AAAATTATAATTTTTTAAAAAAATGATCGAAAAGTTAATAATTTTATGCATTCATATATTTGCTTATGTTAAGTGTTACA TGACCCCTAAATTTTTAAAGGATTCATGCCTAATTATAAGAATATTGATTTCGATAGTTAGAAGAAAAGCTATTTGTATG ATATTAAGTTAATTAATGTTTAGATT<mark>CTGTTA</mark>TTT<mark>TGGTTT</mark>AATCATTTGAATGTGATTAGCTTTCGTCAGATAATGTGT GTTTTGTGGTGATGTGCAATAG<mark>TGGTTA</mark>CAAGATCGATTGTTTAGGATTTCAAGTGTTTGTCACTCTAAACTAGGCTTTC TATACTATTTTCACTTTGGCGATCATGAGTTTTTCATAGTAAGTTTATTTGTGAGATTTGATACCAACAATTTAAACTAT GAATTGAAGATATAGATTAAAGTCTAACATTTTGTTGATATTAGGATCAAATTAAGTATTTATAAGGAGATTTTATGGGG GGAAACAGAGATGTT<mark>TTTGTTA</mark>AATAATCTTTGAGCTCGATAATTACGGGGAGAAGTTTCAAAGAA<mark>TAACTG</mark>AATTGTTT GAACAATATATGCTGGGCCGAGTTAAACCGTCGAGCTTAGAAAGCCGAACTATACATCAGTAAAAGCTTTTACATGAAGT TGGCATTTGAGATGCAAAAAGATAAAAATAAAACTCTCTTTTGGTCCATATAGAAATATATTTTCTTATGGAAAGGGAAT GGAAGTCATACCACTTTCGTGGAGCATATCTGGA<mark>CGGTTA</mark>TATGAAACTTCATGACAGTTTAACAATTTAAAAGACCA<mark>AA</mark> <mark>ACCA</mark>CGTGTCCGCACATCGTATACTCAAAGTCAAAGAGAAGGTTTGCTACTTTTCTTAATCTAGTCGTCGATATGA CATCACATTTCACACAATACGTGAGAAAAACTTACCATCACATTATTACGAAAACACCCCTAGTCGTGGTCAACTTGACC TTTCCCCACAAACACTCATTGCGGAGGAAACTTCCCGGCCACCGCCGCG<mark>CAACCG</mark>CCTCTAGCTTTAAATAATAACACCA AAATATTCAAACCCGTGTTT<mark>TAACCG</mark>TCGAACAATCAAGAATCTCCACCATTACACGCATTCACATACTCATCTATAT ATAATCTACCACTTCTTGAAAAGAATTTGCATCAGAAATCCATTTCCCAAATCTTCTAGATTCATATTCAAAATCAAGAA

(B)

CTTCTTTAGTCTCTTTTTAATGCA<mark>TTTGTTA</mark>ACAACAACTTAAGATGTTAGATTGGAGAACTTGTGAATGTTGTTAATTC TTGATTTTTCTATATCAACACTAAAGTTTTTACATTATGTTTTATGTATTATTAGTTGTGTCTACATTGACATGTTCTAGT AATGTGTTTATCTCCAAACAAAACAAATTCAATTCTTGTATTTTAATCAAACTATTTGCAAATGGTAAACGTCAATTAAT TCGCCTTTATAATTTAATGGAAGATTACTTTTAAAAAGATGCAAGTTATTAGAATCAAAATAAAAACAAAGACAAAATAT GTTAACTTGTAGAAAACACTTGGAAGT<mark>AAAAATCT</mark>GATGAGTTTCTCGTTCTCTAGAATATTGCTGGACCGGATTAGGTC AATATTATTGGGCCAGATTAGATATTGAATTGTCGACGTTGCTTACGTTACGTTATATCTTGTTTAAGAATTAAACCTAT CGACTTAGTCTTAATTAAGAAAACATTGCCTTAAATTCTCTGGTCTGCGACCGTTTTTT<mark>TGACCGTTA</mark>ACCCCTAATTAA AGAAACAAAATAATTATAGAAAGAGCACTGAAATGTGATTATTT<mark>TAACAG</mark>TACTCTTAT<mark>GAGAAAATT</mark>CGTACTTTTTAG TTTTTTTTTGTACAAATCTCTAAGAAAAACACTACTACTAATTAAGAAACGTTTCAAACAATTTTATTTTCGTTGGCTC ATACCTCTCAAATAAAAACTTGAATTTGGAAACAAAGACAACTAAAAAACTCGAATTTAAGAGAATTCCTAAAATCAAGT GAAGTATCATCACTTGGTAAAAATTTCA<mark>TAACCCGTTC</mark>GCTTCTATTTCTATGTGTGCCT<mark>TGGTTT</mark>GCAGGAGATAATATTT CATTT<mark>CCAACC</mark>AATGATATTCGTACACATAGTCAAACAAATGTTTGTCT<mark>TTTGTTA</mark>TTATATTGAGAAAGAAACAAGAAAG AGAGAGAGAGATAGATAAGACGAAGGAAGTGAAGCTTCCAAGCGCCCACCGTT<mark>AAAAATCT</mark>CGTGTGCAAGTTTCAAATA CAAGTGGCCGGTGGTCTCCATAATTTGATCGTCATCCAATTAAAAAGGAAGAAAAGCGTGTTTTATACAAGAAAACTCA

(C)

Figure A3.3. Locations of MYB-binding *cis*-elements within the promoters of (A) *CML37*, (B) *CML38*, and (C) *CML39*.

Green boxes represent MYB binding sites on the + strand; teal boxes represent MYB binding sites on the - strand; burgundy boxes represent overlap.

(A)

AGAAGAGGGAGATGAGGTTAGCTACGTTTATTGTCTTCTCCTCCTGATTTTTATTTGTTAAACTCTTTTTATATGAGT ATATTAATGTTTCTTTCTTTTTAATACAAACTATATATTTTAATTCCAAAATCAAACCTTCTATTTGTAGCAAAGGGTT TGAAGTCAAAAATCTCAATATTTTGGAAAGATTTTCACCCAGAAGTTTTAACCGGTTGATCATGCGGTAGTTAATGGCAAG TTTTTTCTGGATTTTCTGGTTATATTGGTAGATTTAAGACTAAACCTTCACTGGAAATATGTTTCTTGGGTTAATCGTT ${\tt CGACTATGGAGTATGAGTCGGACATGAAAACATTGTTTATCTGCTGGCAACTTTGAACTGATCGGTTCAATTAGGTTTAG$ AAAATTATAATTTTTAAAAAAATGATCGAAAAGTTAATAATTTTATGCATTCATATATTTGCTTATGTTAAGTGTTACA TGACCCCTAAATTTTTAAAGGATTCATGCCTAATTATAAGAATATTGATTTCGATAGTTAGAAGAAAAGCTATTTGTATG ATATTAAGTTAATTAATGTTTAGATTCTGTTATTTTGGTTTAAT<mark>CATTTG</mark>AATGTGATTAGCTTT<mark>CGTCA</mark>GATAATGTGT GTTTTGTGGTGATGTGCAATAGTGGTTACAAGATCGATTGTTTAGGATTT<mark>CAAGTG</mark>TTTGTCACTCTAAACTAGGCTTTC TATACTATTTTCACTTTGGCGATCATGAGTTTTTCATAGTAAGTTTATTTGTGAGATTTGATACCAACAATTTAAACTAT GAATTGAAGATATAGATTAAAGTCTAACATTTTGTTGATATTAGGATCAAATTAAGTATTTATAAGGAGATTTTATGGGG GGAAACAGAGATGTTTTTGTTAAATAATCTTTGAGCTCGATAATTACGGGGAGAAGTTTCAAAGAATAACTGAATTGTTT GAACAATATATGCTGGGCCGAGTTAAACCGTCGAGCTTAGAAAGCCGAACTATACATCAGTAAAAGCTTTTACATGAAGT TGG<mark>CATTTG</mark>AGATGCAAAAAGATAAAAATAAAACTCTCTTTTGGTCCATATAGAAATATATTTTCTTATGGAAAGGGAAT TCAGGACCGGGAATGTAACAGTTAGATGAAACTTCAT<mark>CACATG</mark>AAATATTTTATTTTTAATTCAAGTTTCTAGGAACAGA GGAAGTCATACCACTTTCGTGGAGCATATCTGGACGGTTATATGAAACTTCATGACAGTTTAACAATTTAAAAGACCAAA AC<mark>CACGTC</mark>TCCGCACATCGTATACTCAAAGTCAAAGAGAAGGTTTGCTACTTTTCTTAATCTAGTCGTCGATATGA CATCACATTTCACACAATACGTGAGAAAAACTTACCATCACATTATTACGAAAACACCCCTAGTCGTGGTCAACTTGACC TTTCCCCACAAACACTCATTGCGGAGGAAACTTCCCGGCCACCGCCGCGCAACCGCCTCTAGCTTTAAATAATAACACCA AAATATTCAAACCCGTGTTTTAACCGTCGAACAATCAAGAATCTCTCCACCATTACACGCATTCACATACTCATCTATAT ATAATCTACCACTTCTTGAAAAGAATTTGCATCAGAAATCCATTTCCCAAATCTTCTAGATTCATATTCAAATCAAGAA

(B)

CTTCTTTAGTCTCTTTTTAATG<mark>CATTTG</mark>TTAACAACAACTTAAGATGTTAGATTGGAGAACTTGTGAATGTTGTTAATTC TTGATTTTTCTATATCAACACTAAAGTTTTACATTATGTTTTATGTATTATTAGTTGTGTCTACATTGACATGTTCTAGT AATGTGTTTATCTCCAAACAAACAATTCAATTCTTGTATTTTAATCAAACTATTTG<mark>CAAATG</mark>GTAAA<mark>CGTCA</mark>ATTAAT TCGCCTTTATAATTTAATGGAAGATTACTTTTAAAAAGATGCAAGTTATTAGAATCAAAATAAAAACAAAGACAAAATAA GTTAACTTGTAGAAAA<mark>CACTTG</mark>GAAGTAAAAATCTGATGAGTTTCTCGTTCTCTAGAATATTGCTGGACCGGATTAGGTC AATATTATTGGGCCAGATTAGATATTGAATTGTCGACGTTGCTTACGTTACGTTATATCTTGTTTAAGAATTAAACCTAT CGACTTAGTCTTAATTAAGAAAACATTGCCTTAAATTCTCTGGTCTGCGACCGTTTTTTTGACCGTTAACCCCTAATTAA AGAAACAAAATAATTATAGAAAGAGCACTGAAATGTGATTATTTTAACAGTACTCTTATGAGAAAATTCGTACTTTTTAG TTTTTTTTTGTACAAATCTCTAAGAAAAACACTACTACTAATTAAGAAACGTTTCAAACAATTTTATTTTCGTTGGCTC ATACCTCTCAAATAAAAACTTGAAATTTGGAAACAAAGACAACTAAAAAAACTCGAATTTAAGAGAAATTCCTAAAAT<mark>CAAGT</mark> CAAGTATCATCACTTGGTAAAATTTCATAACCGTTGGCTTCTATTTCTATGTGTGCCTTGGTTTGCAGGAGATAATATTT CATTTCCAACCAATGATATTCGTACACATAGTCAAA<mark>CAAATG</mark>TTTGTCTTTGTTATTATATTGAGAAAGAAACAAGAAAG AGAGAGAGAGATAGATAAGACGAAGGAAGTGAAGCTTCCAAGCGCCCACCGTTAAAAAATCTCGTGTGCAAGTTTCAAATA <mark>CAAGTC</mark>GCCGGTGGTCTCCATAATTTGAT<mark>CGTCA</mark>TCCAATTAAAAAGGAAGAAAAGCGTGTTTTATACAAGAAAACTCA

(C)

Figure A3.4. Locations of JA-responsive *cis*-elements within the promoters of (A) *CML37*, (B) *CML38*, and (C) *CML39*.

Purple boxes represent MYC binding sites; blue boxes represent the CGTCA motif.